DEVELOPMENT OF A PERMEABLE REACTIVE BARRIER TO TREAT LEACHATE FROM MUNICIPAL SOLID WASTE DUMPSITES IN SRI LANKA: AN EFFECTIVE USE OF LOCALLY AVAILABLE MATERIALS FOR HEAVY METAL REMOVAL

(スリランカにおける廃棄物処分場浸出水処理のための浸透性浄化壁の開発:重金属 除去を目的とした地域資材の有効活用)

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

at

Graduate School of Science and Engineering SAITAMA UNIVERSITY

By

B. G. N. Sewwandi

Approved by

Prof. Ken Kawamoto, Academic supervisor and committee chairman

Prof. Norio Tanaka, committee member

Assoc. Prof. Masahiko Osada, committee member

Assoc. Prof. Shingo Asamoto, committee member

Prof. Per Møldrup, committee member (Aalborg University, Denmark)

September 2014

DEVELOPMENT OF A PERMEABLE REACTIVE BARRIER TO TREAT LEACHATE FROM MUNICIPAL SOLID WASTE DUMPSITES IN SRI LANKA: AN EFFECTIVE USE OF LOCALLY AVAILABLE MATERIALS FOR HEAVY METAL REMOVAL

By

B. G. N. Sewwandi

B.Sc. (Hons.) Agriculture (Agric. Eng.), 2008 M.Phil. Integrated Water Resources Management, 2011 University of Peradeniya

DISSERTATION

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

in

Environmental Science and Infrastructure Engineering

to the

Graduate School of Science and Engineering

SAITAMA UNIVERSITY

September 2014

Acknowledgement

First and foremost, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor Prof. Ken Kawamoto for his continuous guidance, valuable advices, endless encouragement and kind attention throughout the research study to make it a success. I am very much grateful for his continuous support on experiments, manuscript development and for convincing me always to be a good researcher.

I offer my heartfelt gratitude to Prof. Toshiko Komatsu for the continuous encouragements, valuable comments and suggestions on my research. Not only for academic matters, she was always there to me in my personal matters too. She is always happy to help others and I could learn many things from her.

I would like to express my sincere thank to committee members, Prof. Per Møldrup, Aalborg University, Denmark, Prof. Norio Tanaka, Assoc. Prof. Masahiko Osada, and Assoc. Prof. Shingo Asamoto for their comments and suggestions to make this research a success. I extend my thanks to Dr. Koide, Dr. S. Hamamoto and Dr. Saito for the endless support during my experiments.

I am very grateful to the Japanese ministry of Education, culture, sports, science and technology for providing me a scholarship to study for my PhD in Japan.

I extend my thanks to Ms. Yuko Mori, Ms. Miura, Ms. Enomoto and Mr. Kunihiro Kobayashi for their help in numerous ways in research activities as well as documentation works many times.

I offer my heartfelt gratitude to my friend in Soil Mechanics lab who helped me in numerous ways. And my special thanks go to my friends in other labs who shares happiness, success and joy together.

I owe my sincere gratitude to Prof. M.I.M. Mowjood, Dr. Meththika Vithanage and Dr. L.W. Galagedara for their continuous guidance and encouragement in my academic life.

I offer my heartfelt gratitude to Dr. S. K. Weragoda, who always encouraged me to pursue my higher studies for his support and guidance in carrying out my studies.

My affectionate gratitude goes to my parents, brothers and sisters who raised me and always wish my success by giving their affection and cherish. I am also grateful for my parents in law for their moral support, encouragements and all the support in many ways.

I would like to express my sincere thanks to all my teachers who fed me with knowledge and skills.

Finally, I owe my dearest thanks to my loving, supportive and encouraging husband, Sudinna for his faithful support, understanding, love and care on me and for bearing the heavy burden of taking care of our little son during my thesis work. As a new part of my life, our son Chanuk should be mentioned. I thank him for being such a quiet and good baby, making it possible for me to write and finish the thesis in his first months of life.

All of you made it possible for me to reach this last stage of my endeavor. Thank You from my heart-of-hearts.

Table of contents

Acknowledgementi
Table of contentsiii
List of Figuresv
List of Tablesvi
Chapter 1 GENERAL INTRODUCTION
Chapter 2 CHARACTERIZATION AND EVALUATION OF LEACHATE
CONTAMINATION POTENTIAL OF LEACHATE FROM MUNICIPAL SOLID
WASTE DUMPSITES IN SRI LANKA
Abstract
2.1 Introduction
2.2 Materials and Methods24
2.2.1 Sampling of landfill leachate24
2.2.2 Leachate characterization25
2.3 Results and Discussion27
2.3.1 Variation of general water quality parameters27
2.3.2 Anions and cations in landfill leachate28
2.3.3 Organic pollutants
2.3.4 Heavy metals in landfill leachate32
2.3.5 Leachate Pollution Index
2.4 Summary and Conclusions40
Chapter 3 ADSORPTION OF Cd(II) AND Pb(II) ONTO HUMIC ACID–TREATED COCONUT (Cocos nucifera) HUSK
Abstract
3.1 Introduction
3.2 Materials and Methods
3.2.1 Materials used
3.2.2 Treatment of CH with sodium humate
3.2.3 Surface area and pore size distribution analysis
3.2.4 Scanning electron microscopy and X-ray energy dispersion analysis
(EDAX)
3.2.5 Surface charge characterization
3.2.6 FT-IR analysis
3.2.7 Effect of pH and background ion concentration on adsorption50

3.2.8	Effect of initial metal ion concentration on adsorption	1
3.2.9	Effect of contact time on adsorption52	2
3.2.10	Desorption experiments	3
3.2.11	Effect of competitive ion on adsorption54	4
3.3 Re	sults and Discussion54	4
3.3.1	Characterization of coconut husk	4
3.3.2	SEM and EDAX analysis	4
3.3.3	FT-IR analysis	5
3.3.4	Effect of pH and ionic strength on adsorption	7
3.3.5	Effect of initial metal concentration on adsorption	8
3.3.6	Effect of contact time on adsorption59	9
3.3.7	Desorption experiment60	0
3.3.8	Effect of competitive ions on adsorption60	0
3.3.9	Comparison of Cd ²⁺ and Pb ²⁺ adsorption onto biosorbents62	2
3.4 Co	nclusions63	3
Chapter 4 REACTIVE	CHARACTERIZATION OF SOILS OF SRI LANKA TO BE USED AS A MATERIAL IN PERMEABLE REACTIVE BARRIER	A R
		l
Abstract		1
Abstract 4.1 Int		l '1 '1
Abstract 4.1 Int 4.2 Ma	71	1 1 1 3
Abstract 4.1 Int 4.2 Ma 4.2.1	71	l '1 '1 3 3
Abstract 4.1 Int 4.2 Ma 4.2.1 4.2.3	71	l '1 '1 3 3 4
Abstract 4.1 Int 4.2 Ma 4.2.1 4.2.3 4.3 Re	71	l 11 33 46
Abstract 4.1 Int 4.2 Ma 4.2.1 4.2.3 4.3 Re 4.3.1	71	l 71 71 3 3 4 6 6
Abstract 4.1 Int 4.2 Ma 4.2.1 4.2.3 4.3 Re 4.3.1 4.4 Co	71 72 73 74 75 75 76 76 76 76 76 76 76 76 76 76	l 71 3 3 4 6 1
Abstract 4.1 Int 4.2 Ma 4.2.1 4.2.3 4.3 Re 4.3.1 4.4 Co Referenc	71 72 73 74 75 75 76 77 76 77 76 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77	l 11 33 46 11
Abstract 4.1 Int 4.2 Ma 4.2.1 4.2.3 4.3 Re 4.3.1 4.4 Co Referenc Chapter 5 S	71 71 72 73 74 74 75 75 76 76 76 76 76 76 76 76 76 76 76 76 76	l 11 33 46 11 1
Abstract 4.1 Int 4.2 Ma 4.2.1 4.2.3 4.3 Re 4.3.1 4.4 Co Referenc Chapter 5 S 5.1 Ch leachate	71 72 73 74 75 75 75 76 76 76 77 76 77 76 77 77 77 77 77 77	l 11 33 46 11 1 4
Abstract 4.1 Int 4.2 Ma 4.2.1 4.2.3 4.3 Re 4.3.1 4.4 Co Referenc Chapter 5 S 5.1 Ch leachate 5.2 Ad nucifera)	71 71 71 72 73 73 74 74 74 75 74 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75	1 1 1 3 3 4 6 6 1 1 1 4 4
Abstract 4.1 Int 4.2 Ma 4.2.1 4.2.3 4.3 Re 4.3.1 4.4 Co Referenc Chapter 5 S 5.1 Ch leachate 5.2 Ad nucifera) 5.3 Ch permeab	71 71 71 72 73 74 74 75 75 75 76 76 76 76 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77	1 11 3 3 4 6 6 6 1 1 1 1 4 4 4 5

List of Figures

Figure 1.1: Schematic diagram of a permeable reactive barrier
Figure 2.1: Landfill leachate sampling sites
Figure 2.2: Variation of general water quality parameters in landfill leachates from different dumpsites
Figure 2.3: Nitrogenous pollutant variation in landfill leachate
Figure 2.4: Variation of TOC and IC in landfill leachate
Figure 3.1: Scanning electron micrograph of (a) RCH and (b) HACH 55
Figure 3.2: Scanning electron micrograph and SEM-EDAX spectrum of Cd2+ adsorbed HACH
Figure 3.3: Scanning electron micrograph and SEM-EDAX spectrum of Pb ²⁺ adsorbed HACH
Figure 3.4: FT-IR spectra of RCH, HACH, and Cd ²⁺ and Pb ²⁺ adsorbed HACH
Figure 3.5: Variation of Cd^{2+} and Pb^{2+} adsorption with pH and ionic strength
Figure 3.6: Langmuir isotherm model fitted curves
Figure 3.7: (a) Cd^{2+} and (b) Pb^{2+} adsorption variation in binary metal solutions61
Figure 4.1: Distribution of great soil groups in Sri Lanka
Figure 4.2: Soils collected from Sri Lanka
Figure 4.3: Relative contributions of soil organic matter (SOM), metal oxides and clay minerals to Pb adsorption: (a) at various reaction pHs for Pb adsorption from Shi et al.,
$(2013) \dots (2013)$
Figure 4.4: Log K_d for Cd as a function of pH from Anderson and
Figure 5.1: Steps of designing a permeable reactive barrier

List of Tables

Table 1.1: Past studies conducted on permeable reactive barriers
Table 1.2: Past studies on biosorption of heavy metals 9
Table 2.1: Biochemical oxygen demand, chemical oxygen demand, total nitrogen and totalphosphorous content in leachate33
Table 2.2: Heavy metal concentrations in landfill leachate and the maximum tolerance limits of heavy metals. Values are in μ g L ⁻¹
Table 2.3: Quality rating scale values of heavy metals for leachate samples. Values are inpercentages35
Table 2.4: Sub-indices of LPI and overall LPI for leachate sample from Matale MSWdumpsite38
Table 2.5: Sub-indices of LPI and overall LPI for leachate from each site with climatic zoneand precipitation data40
Table 3.1: Langmuir adsorption parameters for adsorption of Cd ²⁺ and Pb ²⁺ 59
Table 3.2: Pseudo first order kinetic model parameters and correlation coefficient values foradsorption of Cd2+ and Pb2+ onto HACH60
Table 3.3: Pseudo second order kinetic model parameters and correlation coefficient valuesfor adsorption of Cd^{2+} and Pb^{2+} onto HACH
Table 3.4: Adsorption of Cd^{2+} and Pb^{2+} in the presence of anions and cations
Table 3.5: Comparison of adsorption capacity of HACH with other adsorbents
Table 4.1: Information on soil type, location and climatic zone of the area of collected soils 75
Table 4.2: Analytical methods used in soil analysis 75
Table 4.3: Mineralogical and elemental composition of soils

Chapter 1 GENERAL NTRODUCTION

Municipal solid waste management has become a serious environmental, social and economical issue due to the increased waste production with the enhanced lifestyle of people and the industrialization (Montusiewicz and Lebiocka, 2011). The common solid waste management method practiced in most of the countries around the globe is landfilling of municipal solid wastes as it is the simplest and the cost effective way of handling solid wastes over the other methods (Kjeldsen et al.,2002; Kurniawan et al., 2006; Hunce et al., 2012). Most of the developed countries also used landfilling as solid waste management technique for the most of the solid wastes generated. Moreover, almost all the wastes generated in developing countries are landfilled (Bhalla et al., 2012). The solid wastes dumped in a landfill composed of municipal solid wastes that collected from households, commercial wastes, non-hazardous industrial wastes, and construction and demolition wastes.

However, landfills in developing countries like Sri Lanka is often operated as uncontrolled and unmanaged open dumpsites creating several environmental, social and economical issues (Abenayaka and Werellagama, 2007). There is no application of cover soil on top of the waste layer or collection of landfill leachate from the dumpsites and treatment facility for the generated leachate. The common practice in Sri Lanka is that the solid wastes from urban areas are collected by tractors and brought into nearby open dumpsites and unloaded freely. The wastes consists of household wastes, street litter, commercial wastes, non-infectious hospital wastes as there is no segregation of wastes and all wastes dumped together without considering its origins or hazardous nature.

Many biological, chemical and physical reactions are taking place in landfills as degradation of solid wastes which results in production of landfill gasses and leachate. The leachate is formed when water is in contact with the wastes in landfills (Skulteryova, 2009; Ping, 2006). The water either from precipitation or natural moisture percolates through the wastes dissolving soluble organics and inorganics and leaching heavy metals from cans, batteries, pesticides, cleaning fluids, inks and paints.

Since household waste and non-hazardous industrial waste are disposed in open dumpsites, landfill leachate contains various types of pollutants (Baun et al., 2004). The major pollutants in landfill leachate are organic and inorganic compounds and hazardous substances such as xenobiotic organic compounds and heavy metals (Slack et al., 2005). The quality as well as the quantity of leachate is determined by the nature of the wastes, climatic condition, age of the landfill, moisture content, site hydrology, waste compaction, interaction of leachate with the environment and landfilling technology (Snow et al., 2008; Kulikowska and Klimiuk, 2008; Umar et al., 2010).

Since municipal landfill leachate contains large amount of organic and inorganic contaminants, it can cause severe environmental and health hazards if not properly treated (Asadi, 2008). The level of pollution by landfill leachate depends on the landfill age, technological structure of the landfill, climatic conditions and composition of wastes dumped in the landfill (Jaskelevicius and Lynikiene, 2009). Environmental hazards such as dissolved oxygen depletion, eutrophication and toxicity to aquatic life *etc.* are some of the problems which can be caused by contamination of water with leachate (Abbas *et al.,* 2009; Salem *et al.,* 2008). Groundwater and surface water can be contaminated by leaching landfill leachate in unlined landfills (Ageena, 2010).

Health hazards such as kidney damage, liver damage, mental retardation in children, cancers, gastrointestinal disorders can be caused by pathogens, toxins, carcinogenic or mutagenic compounds present in landfill leachate. Heavy metals present in leachate plays an important role as it is toxic in traces as well as detrimental to both flora and fauna (Alluri *et al.*, 2007; Das *et al.*, 2008).

Studies on landfill leachate characterization in Sri Lanka have proved that there is a risk of soil and water pollution by heavy metals in nearby areas of the dumpsites in Sri Lanka (Sewwandi et al., 2011; Wijesekara et al., 2014; Sewwandi et al., 2013). Onsite treatment facilities for generated leachate have to be operated and managed in open dumpsites to reduce the risk of polluting soil and groundwater by leachate flow.

Chemical, biological and Physical treatment methods used in wastewater treatment in general are recommended for landfill leachate treatment based on composition of leachate (Kilic *et al.*, 2007). Chemical treatment with coagulants has been widely used for removal of heavy metals from landfill leachate (Asadi, 2008). Hydrated Aluminum sulphate, lime and hydrated ferric chloride have been used to test the removal efficiency of Fe, Ni, Cd, Pb and Zn from leachate. They have concluded that hydrated aluminum sulphate is the best coagulant for heavy metal removal.

Maleki *et al.* (2009) studied the effect of chemical treatment i.e. coagulation and flocculation process on treatment of leachate from a composting plant. They have studied the removal of organic matter and heavy metal (Cu, Zn, Cd, Cr and Ni) by using two coagulants (alum and ferric chloride) with the variation in pH. They have found that at the higher pH levels, removal of organic matter is comparatively higher and at the low pH levels, heavy metal removal is higher than the removal of organic matter. Moreover, both coagulants gave the higher removal of heavy metals but for the removal of organic matter, FeCl₃ was better than the alum. The same results have been obtained by Zazouli and Yousef (2008) from a study with same coagulants.

Kilic *et al.*, (2007) have studied the physicochemical methods in combination with adsorption process for treatment of landfill leachate. Lime and the granular activated carbon have been tested for the adsorption of metals. They have found that leachate is treated by adsorption process followed by chemical coagulation to a level of pollutants which is suitable for direct discharge. Furthermore, the treatment with lime pretreatment and ammonia stripping is more applicable than the adsorption process though its pollutant removals are not up to the discharge standards.

Another study on landfill leachate treatment have been investigated the effect of ozone oxidation and moss on removal of organic matter and some heavy metals (Cu, Zn and Pb). The results of the study indicate that the use of both ozone oxidation and moss gives the better treatment than when uses only moss (Kobayashi *et al.*, 2009). When it is used moss only, it has removed only Zn but not the other pollutants.

A study has been conducted by Derco *et al.* (2002) have monitored the effectiveness of ozone treatment in improving biodegradability of organic compounds in landfill leachate. Biological pretreatment has done before the ozone treatment and the treatment efficiency was monitored with the removal of organic matter. The result of the study is that the highest removal of organic matter occurred during 10-11.5 h after ozonation of pretreated leachate.

Short rotation willow coppice plants have been used in landfills to study the effect of plants in leachate management. In addition to plants, soil is acted as a dilution medium for leachate and a buffer zone for the downstream to prevent from shock loadings (Alker *et al*, 2003). Further, the complete removal of ammonium can be achieved by both nitrification and plant uptake by willow coppice.

The effect of municipal landfill leachate on plant growth has been studied with a floating plant (*Eichhornia crassipus*) in different salinity levels, pH, nutrients and heavy metals under a greenhouse conditions (EI-Gendy *et al.*, 2005). The optimum concentrations for different nutrients have been investigated. Further, they have found that the heavy metal concentrations for which supported the plant growth as well as inhibited the plant growth. The conclusion of the study is that with higher plant growth, the removal efficiency is increased.

Constructed wetlands have been used by many researches for the treatment of landfill leachate worldwide (Demirezen and Aksoy, 2004; Lesage et al., 2007; Mohanty *et al.*, 2006; Schneider *et al.*, 2001; Kara, 2005; Maine *et al.*, 2004; Bajza and Vreek, 2001; Cheng *et al.*, 2002; Jayaweera *et al.*, 2008). Most of them have studied the heavy metal removals from the leachate with different plant types, flow rates, substrates *etc.* in constructed wetlands. Pendelton *et al.* (2005) studied the leachate treatment in sub surface flow constructed wetlands in a pilot study and found that especially for older landfills, constructed wetlands are a viable option in places where the other long term options are limited by the leachate disposal costs, space and environmental concerns.

The efficiency of an anaerobic digestion reactor have been studied by Trabelsi *et al.* (2009) for the treatment of landfill leachate in terms of removing organic matter (measured as BOD₅, COD, TOC), NH₄-N and TKN. The effluent from the anaerobic digestion reactor has been treated in three aerobic submerged biological reactors. They have found that the removal efficiencies of all the parameters are higher when both anaerobic and aerobic reactors were used in sequence than a single anaerobic or aerobic reactor.

It is common to use agricultural by products for leachate treatment either as raw material itself or with a little treatment. Oil palm shells and coconut husk have been used for leachate treatment after forming into activated carbon (Joseph *et al.*, 2006).

Filter materials have been tested for heavy metals removal (Modin and Persson, 2008). Granular activated carbon, CAP meal (fine powder derived from animal bones) and zero valent iron are the filter materials that have been tested in this study. However, they have faced some problems like no flow in leach columns with some filter materials (CAP meal). The conclusion of the study is that activated carbon has a good ability to remove heavy metals tested than the other two filter materials.

Waste derived filter media have been used for the treatment of compost leachate by Tyrrel *et al.*, (2008). Two grain sizes of compost and granite chips have been studied for the removal of nitrogenous and carbonaceous compounds by bioremediation process. The results of the study highlight that the compost granules more than 10 mm size is most effective as a filter medium for the treatment of compost leachate.

The use of above methods for leachate treatment is sometimes limited due to social, economical and environmental issues prevailing in local situations. In that case cost effective treatment technologies which are site specific, cost effective and suitable for the local conditions are needed to control the contaminant source and to manage contaminants along its pathway. Therefore, it is worth to investigate the use of new and innovative technologies which are developed to be suited the conditions at open dumpsites.

Permeable reactive barriers (PRB) are one such a new and innovative technology used in polluted groundwater treatment which gives a simple and inexpensive solution. It is a subsurface structure constructed across the contaminated water flow path downstream of the contaminant plume (Day et al., 1999; Blowes et al., 2000). Figure 1.1 shows the schematic diagram of a permeable reactive barrier. Accordingly, contaminant plume is treated by the precipitation, adsorption or degradation of pollutants while the contaminant plume passes through the barrier.

The concept of PRB has been first born at the University of Waterloo, North America focusing on funnel-and-gate system to remove chlorinates and recalcitrant compounds by elemental iron. Since then, research has been carried out and the research focusing on PRB designs, suitable reactive materials and target contaminants has been increased significantly in 1990s (Blowes et al., 2000).

There are two installation configurations of PRB as continuous walls, and Funneland-Gate barriers (Gavaskar, 1999; Vogan et al., 1999). Continuous walls are

5

simplest to install which extends across the width and depth of the plume and give least effects to the existing groundwater flow pattern. On the other hand, Funneland-Gate barriers have permeable gates which contain reactive materials and contaminated plume is funneled through these gates.



Figure 1.1: Schematic diagram of a permeable reactive barrier

Different kinds of reactive materials have been used in PRBs to treat contaminated groundwater. Activated carbon, zero valent iron, bentonite, soil-bentonite mixture are some of reactive materials used. The selection of a particular reactive material for a PRB depends on several factors i.e. reactivity, stability, availability and cost, environmental compatibility, hydraulic performance and safety.

Several mechanisms are involved in contaminant removal process by PRB which occurs collectively or as separate processes. Some of such mechanisms are degradation, precipitation and sorption of contaminants (Simon and Meggyes, 2000). The use of PRB is advantageous over the other treatment methods due to its low energy input, continued productive use of installation, and cleans up on only the area of contamination.

There is a plenty of research carried out on PRB to remove different pollutants in contaminated groundwater. Table 1.1 presents a summary of some of the studies conducted around the world. Accordingly, it is clear that most of the studies have been carried out in the developed countries using reactive materials with chemical origin. The pollutant of interest in most of these studies is radioactive wastes or organic halogenated hydrocarbons. Thus, there is a lack of studies on PRB to remove organic pollutants and heavy metals from wastewater and use of use of natural materials like soil or biomaterials.

Studies have shown that soils and biomaterials can effectively be used in treatment to remove different kinds of pollutants. Researchers have studied waste materials from agriculture, food and wood industry for adsorption (biosorption) of heavy metals and found that those can effectively be used as biosorbents to remove heavy metals (Das *et al.*, 2008; Vinodhini and Das, 2010, Bansal *et al.*, 2009, Gonzalez *et al.*, 2008). There are studies that soils or sand has been used as the adsorbent to remove heavy metals form contaminated water (Appel *et al.*, 2008; Gabaldon *et al.*, 2006; Altin *et al.*, 1999; Vithanage *et al.*, 2007; Vithanage *et al.*, 2009; DeBusk *et al.*, 1997). Table 1.2 summarizes the studies on natural materials to remove heavy metals in laboratory studies.

Reactive material	Pollutant of interest	Scale	Variables	Country	Reference
Clinoptilolite (a natural zeolite)	Ammonium and heavy metals (Pb and Cu)	Lab scale (batch and column)	Concentration of metal Particle size	Korea	Park et al., 2002
Zeolite with high SiO_2/Al_2O_3	Methyl tert-butyl ether (MTBE) Chloroform, trichloroethylene	Lab scale	Pore size Ratio of SiO_2/Al_2O_3	USA	Anderson et al., 2000
Bone apatite material (Contain HAP)	Uranium	Lab scale	Concentration of U Effect of carbonate	USA	Fuller et al., 2003
Activated carbon	Cd	Lab and field scale (> 6 months)	Initial U concentration pH Time	Italy	Di Natalie et al., 2008
Amorphous ferric hydroxide	U(VI)	Lab scale	Initial U concentration Effect of $\text{CO}_3^{2-} \& \text{SO}_4^{2-}$ pH	USA	Morrison et al., 1995
Apetite	Cd, Pb, Zn, SO_4^{2-} , NO_3^{-}	Field scale (>2y)	Time	USA	Wright et al., 2003
Fly ash	Pb	Lab scale	Pore volume pH	USA	Brooks et al., 2010
Silica sand+Ca crushed limestone + readily available metal oxides	Phosphate	Lab scale (batch and column)	% of each material Contact time	Canada	Baker et al., 1998

Table 1.1: Past studies conducted on permeable reactive barriers

Table 1.2: Past studies on biosorption of heavy metals

Biosorbent	Heavy metal	Type of wastewater	Reference
Activated carbon, Bengal gram	Cr	landfill leachate, chemical	Ahalya <i>et al</i> ., 2005, Abdullah
(Cicer arientinum) husk, Potato		solutions, synthetic	and Prasad, 2009, Vinodhini
peel waste, saw dust, rice husk,		wastewater,	and Das, 2010, Bansal <i>et al</i> .,
raw coconut coir		sulphochromic waste	2009, Gonzalez <i>et al</i> ., 2008
Erythrina variegate orientalis leaf	Cd	chemical solutions,	Prasad and Kumar, 2010,
powder, activated carbon from		synthetic wastewater,	Periasamy and Namasivayam,
peanut hulls and commercial		chemical solutions, Cd	1994, Ulmanu <i>et al</i> ., 2003,
granular activated carbon, saw		contaminated wastewater	Sharma <i>et al</i> ., 2009, Kumar and
dust, fly ash, treated saw dust, rice			Bandyopadhyay, 2006
husk, Na2CO3 treated rice husk			
Pine (Pinus virginiana) fruit,	Fe	chemical solutions,	Najim <i>et al</i> ., 2009, Mohan <i>et al</i> .,
coconut shell, coconut shell fibre,		industrial wastewater,	2008,
rice husk			
Treated and untreated rice husk	Ni	synthetic wastewater	Ajmal <i>et al</i> ., 2003
Pine (Pinus virginiana) fruit, saw	Cu	chemical solutions,	Najim <i>et al</i> ., 2009, Ageena,
dsut,			2010, Bajpai and Rohit, 2007

coconut shell, coconut shell fibre,	Pb	Industrial wastewater,	Mohan <i>et al</i> ., 2008, Ansari and
rice husk, chemically treated saw		chemical solutions,	Raofie, 2006, Abdel-Ghani <i>et al</i> .,
lust, saw dust, rice husk ash,		battery industry	2007, Sharma <i>et al</i> ., 2009,
maize cobs		wastewater	
oconut shell, coconut shell fibre,	Zn	industrial wastewater,	Mohan <i>et al</i> ., 2008,
rice husk,			

Only very few studies have been conducted on the use of plant materials and soils as the reactive material for PRB as shown in Table 1.1. The selection of a reactive material which is most effective, readily available, relatively inexpensive and compatible with subsurface conditions is a challenge in using PRB. Since agricultural waste materials and soils have shown good removal of heavy metals from wastewater, it will be worth to investigate the ability of using these materials as a reactive media for PRB.

This study focuses on using locally available materials in a PRB to remove heavy metals from leachate generated in open dumpsites in Sri Lanka. Agricultural waste materials and soils are two possible materials to be used in PRBs. Being an agricultural country, agricultural waste products like coconut husk, saw dust, rice husk etc. are freely available for any use (only transport cost incur) in Sri Lanka. Often these materials are dumped in open sites which cause environmental noises. Therefore, the use of these materials in PRB would be an advantage for reducing the risk of heavy metal contamination of water, and soil and also provide a solution to the solid waste generated from agricultural activities.

Different soils have also been tested for heavy metal removal in laboratory experiments (Appel *et al.*, 2008; Gabaldon *et al.*, 2006; Altin *et al.*, 1999; Vithanage *et al.*, 2007; Vithanage *et al.*, 2009; DeBusk *et al.*, 1997) and have found that the heavy metal removal by soils is satisfactory. There are many types of soils in different parts of Sri Lanka representing several soil orders.

Even though, PRBs have extensively been used in treating contaminated groundwater in different parts of the world, the use of PRB in landfill sites is limited. PRBs could be a better solution to be used as a site specific treatment system in open dumpsites in Sri Lanka to prevent soil and groundwater pollution by leachate generated. The main issue regarding the use of PRB in open dumpsites will be the selection of a proper reactive material which is suited to the local conditions of the dumpsite.

As mentioned earlier based on the previous studies, soil and groundwater pollution by heavy metals in the vicinity of open dumpsites is remarkable and therefore this study will be focused on removing heavy metals using PRB. It is economical to use a reactive material that is effective and readily available at local conditions. Thus, this study aims to find out the possibility of using locally available biomaterials and soils in treating leachate generated from open dumpsites with the aim of developing a reactive material to be used in PRB at low cost. This research aims to explore the biomaterials i.e. coconut husk and seven soils of different areas of Sri Lanka as these materials are readily available in Sri Lanka at no or low cost, to be used in PRB to treat leachate from municipal solid wastes dumpsites. The objectives of the study are to (1) characterize leachate from open dumpsites from different areas of Sri Lanka to identify the most critical pollutants in leachate (2) characterize agricultural waste materials (biomaterials) for pollutant removal and (3) characterize soils of Sri Lanka to identify the efficient metal sorbing soils.

References

- Abbas, A. A., G. Jingsong, L. Z. Ping, P. Y. Ya and W. S. Al-Rekabi. 2009. Review on Landfill Leachate. *American Journal of Applied Sciences*. 6 (4): 672-684.
- Abdel-Ghani, N. T., M. Hefny and G. A. F. El-Chaghaby. 2007. Removal of Lead from Aqueous Solution Using Low Cost Abundantly Available Adsorbents. *International Journal of Environmental Science and Technology*. 4 (1): 67-73.
- Abdullah, M. A. and A.G. D. Prasad. 2009. Kinetic and Equilibrium Studies for the Biosorption of Cr(VI) from Aqueous Solutions by Potato Peel Waste. *International Journal of Chemical Engineering Research*. 1 (2): 51-52.
- Abenayaka,A. and Werellagama, D.R.I.B. 2007. Efficiencyimprovement of Solid Waste Management Systems with Load Reduction: A case Study in Kandy City, Sri Lanka. In Proc. Of international Conference on Sustainable Solid Waste Mangem ent, India: 126-133.
- Ageena, N. A. 2010. The Use of Local Sawdust as an Adsorbent for the Removal of Copper Ion from Wastewater using Fixed Bed Adsorption. *Engineering and Technology Journal.* 28(2): 224-235.
- Ahalya, N., R.D. Kanamadi and T.V. Ramachandra. 2005. Biosorption of Chromium (VI) from Aqueous Solutions by the Husk of Bengal Gram (*Cicer arientinum*). *Electronic Journal of Biotechnology*. 8(3): 258-264.
- Ajmal, M., R. A. K. Rao, S. Anwar, J. Ahmad and R. Ahmad. 2003. Adsorption Studies on Rice Husk: Removal and Recovery of Cd(II) from Wastewater. *Bioresource Technology*. 86: 147–149.
- Alker, G. R., A. R. Godley and J. E. Hallet. 2003. Landfill Leachate Management by Application of Short Rotation Willow Coppice. In Proc. 9th International Waste Management and Landfill Symposium.
- Alluri, H. K., Ronda, S. R., Settalluri, V. S., Bondili, J. S., Suryanarayana, V. and Venkateshwar, P. 2007. Biosorption: An Eco-friendly Alternative for Heavy Metal Removal. *African Journal of Biotechnology*. 6 (25): 2924-2931.
- Altin, O., O.H. Ozbelge and T. Dogu. 1999. Effect of pH, Flow Rate and Concentration on the Sorption of Pb and Cd on Montmorillonite: I.

Experimental. *Journal of Chemical Technology and Biotechnology*. 74: 1131-1138.

- Anderson, M. A. 2000. Removal of MTBA and other organic contaminants from water by sorption to high silica zeolites. Environ. Sci. Technol. 34: 725-727.
- Ansari, A. and F. Raofie. 2006. Removal of Lead Ion from Aqueous Solutions Using Sawdust Coated by Polyaniline. *E-Journal of Chemistry*. 3 (10): 49-59.
- Appel, C., L. Q. Ma, R. D. Rhue and W. Reve, 2008. Sequential Sorption of Lead and Cadmium in Three Tropical Soils. *Environmental Pollution*. 155: 132-140.
- Asadi, M. 2008. Investigation of heavy Metals Concentration in Landfill Leachate and Reduction by different Coag ulants. In Proc. Of 7th International Conference on Environmental Engineering. 484-488.
- Bajpai, S. K. and V. K. Rohit. 2007. Cation Exchanger Saw Dust (CESD) as an Effective Sorbent for Removal of Cu (II) from Aqueous Solution. *Electronic Journal of Environmental, Agricultural and Food Chemistry.* 6 (5): 2053-2065.
- Bajza, Z. and I. V. Vrcek. 2001. Water Quality Analysis of Mixtures Obtained from Tannery Waste Effluents. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety. 50: 15-18.
- Baker, M. J., D. W. Blowes and C. J. Ptacek (1998)."Laboratory Development of Permeable Reactive Mixtures for the Removal of Phosphorus from Onsite Wastewater Disposal Systems". Environmental Science & Technology. 32(15): 2308-2316.
- Bansal, M., U. Garg, D. Singh and V.K. Garg. 2009. Removal Of Cr(VI) from Aqueous Solutions Using Pre-Consumer Processing Agricultural Waste: A Case Study of Rice Husk. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*. 162: 312–320.
- Baun, A., A. Ledin, L. A. Reitzel, P. L. Bjerg and T. H. Christensen (2004)."Xenobiotic organic compounds in leachates from ten Danish MSW landfills—chemical analysis and toxicity tests". Water Research 38 3845– 3858.
- Bhalla, G., P. K. Swamee, A. Kumar and A. Bansal (2012)."Assessment of groundwater quality near municipal solid waste landfill by an Aggregate Index Method ". International Journal of Environmental Sciences. 2(2): 1492-1503.

- Blowes, D. W., C. J. Ptacek and J. L. Jambor (1997)."In-Situ Remediation of Cr(VI)-Contaminated Groundwater Using Permeable Reactive Walls: Laboratory Studies". Environmental Science & Technology. 31(12): 3348-3357.
- Blowes, D. W., C. J. Ptacek, S. G. Benner, C. W. T. McRae, T. A. Bennett and R. W. Puls (2000)."Treatment of inorganic contaminants using permeable reactive barriers". Journal of Contaminant Hydrology. 45(1–2): 123-137.
- Cantrell K.J., Kaplan D.I., Wietsma T.W. (1995) Zero-valent iron for the in situ remediation of selected metals in groundwater. Journal of Hazardous Materials 42:201-212.
- Cheng, S., W. Grosse, F. Karrenbrock. and M. Thoennessen. 2002. Efficiency of Constructed Wetlands in Decontamination of Water Polluted by Heavy Metals. Ecological engineering. 18: 317–325.
- Das, N., P. Karthika, R. Vimala and V. Vinodhini. 2008. Use of Natural Products as Biosorbent of Heavy Metals: An Overview. *Natural Product Radiance*. 7(2): 133-138.
- Day, S. R., S. F. O'Hannesin and L. Marsden (1999)."Geotechnical techniques for the construction of reactive barriers". Journal of Hazardous Materials. 67(3): 285-297.
- DeBusk, T. A., M. A. Langston, B. R. Schwegler and S. Davidson. 1997. An Evaluation of Filter Media for Treating Stormwater Runoff. In Proc. Fifth Biennial Stormwater Research Conference: 82-89.
- Demirezen, D. and A. Aksoy. 2004. Accumulation of Heavy Metals in in Typha angustifolia (L.) and Potamogeton pectinatus (L.) Living in Southern Marsh (Kayseri, Turkey). Chemosphere. 56: 685-696.
- Derco, J., A. Gulyásová and M. Horòák. 2002. Influence of Ozonation on Biodegradability of Refractory Organics in a Landfill Leachate. *Chemical Papers.* 56(1): 41-44.
- EI-Gendy, A.S. N. Biswas and J. K. Bewtra, A. 2005. Floating Aquatic System Employing Water Hycinth for Municipal Landfill leachate treatment: Effect of Leachate Characteristics on the Plant Growth. Journal of Environmental Engineering and Science. 4(4): 227-240.

- Fuller C. C., Bargar, J. R. and Davis, J. A. 2003. Molecular-Scale Characterization of Uranium sorption by bone apatite materials for a permeable reactive barrier demonstration. Environ. Sci. Technol. 37:4642-4649.
- Gabaldon, C., P. Marzal and F. J. Alvarez-Hornos. 2006. Modelling Cd(II) Removal from Aqueous Solutions by Adsorption on a Highly Mineralized Peat. Batch and Fixed-Bed Column Experiments. *Journal of Chemical Technology and Biotechnology*. 81: 1107-1112.
- Gavaskar, A. R. (1999)."Design and construction techniques for permeable reactive barriers". Journal of Hazardous Materials. 68(1–2): 41-71.
- Gonzalez, M. H., G. C. L. Araujo, C. B. Pelizaro, E. A. Menezes, S. G. Lemos, G. B. de Sousa and A. R. A. Nogueira. 2008. Coconut Coir as Biosorbent for Cr(VI) Removal from Laboratory Wastewater. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*. 159:252–256.
- Hunce, S. Y., D. Akgul, G. Demir and B. Mertoglu (2012)."Solidification/stabilization of landfill leachate concentrate using different aggregate materials". Waste Management. 32(7): 1394-1400.
- Jaskelevicius, B. and V. Lynikien. 2009. Investigation of Influence of Lapes Landfill Leachate on Ground and Surface Water Pollution with Heavy Metals. *Journal of Environmental Engineering and Landscape Management*. 17(3): 131–139.
- Jayaweeraa, M. W., J. C. Kasturiarachchia, R. K. A. Kularatnea and S. L. J. Wijeyekoon. 2008. Contribution of Water hyacinth (Eichhornia crassipes (Mart.) Solms) Grown under Different Nutrient Conditions to Fe Removal Mechanisms in Constructed Wetlands. Journal of Environmental Management. 87: 450-460.
- Joseph, C. G., H. F. M. Zain and S. F. Dek. 2006. Treatment of Landfill Leachate in Kayu Madang, Sabah: Textural and Physical Characterization (Part 1). Malaysia Journal of Analytical Sciences, Vol 10(1): 1-6.
- Kara, Y. 2005. Bioaccumulation of Cu, Zn, and Ni from the Wastewater by Treated Nasturtium officinale. Int. J. Environ. Sci. Tech. 2(1): 63-67.

- Killic, M. Y., Kestioglu, K. and T. Yonar. 2007. Landfill Leachate treatment by the Combination of physicochemical Methods with Adsorption Process. *Journal of Biological Environment and Science*. 1: 37-43.
- Kjeldsen, P., M. A. Barlaz, A. P. Rooker, A. Baun, A. Ledin and T. H. Christensen (2002)."Present and Long-Term Composition of MSW Landfill Leachate: A Review". Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology. 32(4): 297-336.
- Kobayashi, F., M. Daidai and Y. Nakamura. 2009. Development of Landfill Leachate Treatment System Using Ozone Oxydation and Moss. *Environmental Research Journal*. 3(3):87-91.
- Kulikowska, D. and E. Klimiuk (2008)."The effect of landfill age on municipal leachate composition". Bioresource Technology. 99(13): 5981-5985.
- Kumar, U. and M. Bandyopadhyay. 2006. Fixed Bed Column Study for Cd(II) Removal from Wastewater Using Treated Rice Husk. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*. B129: 253–259
- Kurniawan, T. A., W.-H. Lo and G. Y. S. Chan (2006)."Degradation of recalcitrant compounds from stabilized landfill leachate using a combination of ozone-GAC adsorption treatment". Journal of Hazardous Materials. 137(1): 443-455.
- Lesage, E., D.P.L. Rousseau, E. Meers, F.M.G. Tack, and N. De Pauw. 2007. Accumulation of Metals in a Horizontal Subsurface Flow Constructed Wetland Treating Domestic Wastewater in Flanders, Belgium. Science of the Total Environment. 380: 102-115.
- Mainea, M. A., N. L. Sun and S. C. Lagger. 2004. Chromium Bioaccumulation: Comparison of the Capacity of Two Floating Aquatic macrophytes. Water Research. 38: 1494-1501.
- Maleki, A., M.A. Zazouli, H. Izanloo and R. Rezaee, 2009. Composting Plant Leachate Treatment by Caogulation- Flocculation Process. *American-Eurasian J. Agric. and Environ. Sci.* 5(5): 638-643.
- Modin, H. and K. M. Persson. 2008. Sorption Filters for Removal of Heavy Metals from Landfill Leachate. In. Proc. Postgraduate Research Conference. 1-3.

- Mohan, D., K. P. Singh and V. K. Singh. 2008. Wastewater Treatment Using Low Cost Activated Carbons Derived from Agricultural Byproducts—A Case Study. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*. 152: 1045–1053.
- Mohanty, K., M. Jha, B.C. Meikap and M.N. Biswas. Biosorption of Cr(VI) from Aqeous Solutions by eichhornia crassipus. Chemical Engineering Journal. 117: 71-77.
- Montusiewicz, A. and M. Lebiocka (2011)."Co-digestion of intermediate landfill leachate and sewage sludge as a method of leachate utilization". Bioresource Technology. 102(3): 2563-2571.
- Morrison S. J., Spangler R.R., and Tripathi V.S. 1995). Adsorption of Uranium (VI) on amorphous ferric oxyhydroxide at high concentrations of dissolved C(IV) an sulfur(VI). Journal of contaminant 17:333-346.
- Najim, T. S., N. J. Elais and A. A. Dawood. 2009. Adsorption of Copper and Iron Using Low Cost Material as Adsorbent. *E-Journal of Chemistry*. 6 (1):161-168.
- Park, J.-B., S.-H. Lee, J.-W. Lee and C.-Y. Lee (2002)."Lab scale experiments for permeable reactive barriers against contaminated groundwater with ammonium and heavy metals using clinoptilolite (01-29B)". Journal of Hazardous Materials. 95(1–2): 65-79.
- Pendelton, C. H., J. W. F. Morris, H. Goldemund, L. R. Rozema, M. S. Mallamo and L. Agricola. 2005. Leachate Treatment using Vertical Subsurface Flow Wetland Systems-Findings from Two Pilot Studies. In Proc. 10th Int. Waste Management and Landfill Symposium. Environmental Sanitory Engineering Centre, Italy.
- Ping, L. S. 2006. Adsorbent Supplemented Treatment of Landfill Leachate in Sequencing Batch Reactor. *M. Sc. Thesis*. University Sains Malaysia.
- Puls, R. W., C. J. Paul and R. M. Powell (1999)."The application of in situ permeable reactive (zero-valent iron) barrier technology for the remediation of chromatecontaminated groundwater: a field test". Applied Geochemistry. 14(8): 989-1000.

- Periasamy, K. and C. Namasivayam. 1994. Process Development for Removal and Recovery of Cadmium from Wastewater by a Low Cost Adsorbent: Adsorption Rates and Equilibrium Studies. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* 33: 317-320.
- Prasad, P. and R. Kumar. 2010. Biosortion of Cadmium: Equilibrium, Kinetics and Thermodynamics by *Erythrina variegata orientalis* Leaf Powder. *International Journal of Chemical Engineering Research*. 2(2): 173–180.
- Salem, Z., K. Hamouri, R. Djemaa and K. Allia. 2008. Evaluation of Landfill Leachate Pollution and Treatment. *Desalination*. 220: 108-114.
- Schneider, I. A. H., J. Rubio and R. W. Smith. 2001. Biosorption of metals onto Plant Biomass: Exchange adsorption or Surface Precipitation?. Int> J. Miner. Process. 62: 111-120.
- Sewwandi, B. G. N., S. S. R. M. D. H. R. Wijesekara, A. Rajapaksha, M. I. M. Mowjood and M. Vithanage. 2011. Risk of Soil and Water Pollution by Heavy Metals in Landfill Leachate. In Proc. International Conference on Agricultural Engineering "Novelty, Clean and Sustainable". Thailand, 31st March-1st April 2011: pp 43.
- Sewwandi, B. G. N., Koide Takahiro, Ken Kawamoto, Shoichiro Hamamoto, Shingo Asamoto and Hiroyasu Sato. 2013. Evaluation of leachate contamination potential of municipal solid waste dumpsites in Sri Lanka using Leachate Pollution Index. 14th International Waste Management and Landfill Symposium. 30th Sep-4th Oct, 2013. Sardinia, Italy. pp. 222.
- Sharma, N., K. Kaur and S. Kaur. 2009. Kinetic and Equilibrium Studies on the Removal of Cd²⁺ Ions from Water Using Polyacrylamide Grafted Rice (*Oryza sativa*) Husk and *Tectonia grandis* Saw Dust. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*. 163:1338-1344.
- Simon, F. G. and T. Meggyes (2000)."Removal of organic and inorganic pollutants from groundwater using permeable reactive barriers - Part 1. Treatment processes for pollutants". Land Contamination & Reclamation. 8(2): 103-116.
- Škultétyová, I., 2009. Water Source Protection from Landfill Leachate. In Proc. of International Symposium on Water Management and Hydraulic Engineering: 523-532

- Snow, A., A. E. Ghaly and R. Cote. 2008. Treatment of Stormwater Runoff and Landfill Leachates using a Subsurface Flow Constructed Wetlands. *American Journal of Environmental Sciences*. 4(2):164-172.
- Slack, R. J., J. R. Gronow and N. Voulvoulis (2005)."Household hazardous waste in municipal landfills: contaminants in leachate". Science of the Total Environment. 337(1–3): 119-137.
- Trabelsi, I., I. Sellami, T. Dhifallah, K. Medhioub, L. bousselmi and A. Ghrabi. 2009. Coupling of Anoxic and Aerobic Biological Treatment of Landfill Leachate. Desalination. 248:185-192.
- Tratnyek, P. G., T. L. Johnson, M. M. Scherer and G. R. Eykholt (1997). "Remediating Ground Water with Zero-Valent Metals: Chemical Considerations in Barrier Design". Ground Water Monitoring and Remediation. 17(4): 108-114.
- Tyrrel, S. F., I. Seymour and J. A. Harris. 2008. Bioremediation of leachate from a Greenwaste Composting Facility using waste-Derived Filter Media. Bioresource Technology. 99(16): 7657-7664.
- Ulmanu, M., I. Anger, E. Maranon-Maison, L. C. Pelaez, R. Teodorescu and E. Moreh. 2003. Single and Competitive Separation of Copper and Cadmium from Aqueos Solution on Adsorbent Materials. *Journal of Environmental Protection and Ecology*. 4: 179-186.
- Umar, M., H. A. Aziz and M. S. Yusoff (2010)."Variability of Parameters Involved in Leachate Pollution Index and Determination of LPI from Four Landfills in Malaysia". International Journal of Chemical Engineering. 2010(1): 1-6.
- Vinodhini, V. and N. Das.2010. Relevant Approach to Assess the Performance of Sawdust as Adsorbent of Chromium (VI) Ions from Aqueous Solutions. *International Journal of Environmental Science and Technology*. 7 (1): 85-92.
- Vithanage, M., Senevirathna, W., Chandrajith, R., Weerasooriya, R., 2007. Arsenic Binding Mechanisms on Natural Red Earth: A Potential Substrate for Pollution Control. *Science of the Total Environment*. 379: 244-248.
- Vithanage, M., Mahatantila, K., Chandrajith, R., Weerasooriya, R., 2009. Natural Red Earth: An Effective Sorbent for Arsenic Removal from Sri Lanka. Natural

Arsenic in *Ground Waters of Latin America* (Eds) Bundschuh, J. *et al.* CRC press, The Netherlands. 521.

- Vogan, J. L., R. M. Focht, D. K. Clark and S. L. Graham (1999)."Performance evaluation of a permeable reactive barrier for remediation of dissolved chlorinated solvents in groundwater". Journal of Hazardous Materials. 68(1– 2): 97-108.
- Wijesekara, S.S.R.M.D.H.R. Sonia S. Mayakaduwa, A.R. Siriwardana, Nalin de Silva,
 B.F.A. Basnayake, Ken Kawamoto, Meththika Vithanage. (2014) Fate and
 transport of pollutants through a municipal solid waste landfill leachate in Sri
 Lanka. Journal of Environmental Earth Sciences. ISSN 1866-6280, DOI 10.1007/s12665-014-3075-2
- Zazouli, M. A. and Z. Yousefi. 2008. Removal of Heavy Metals from Solid Wastes Leachates Coagulation- Flocculation Process. *Journal of Applied Sciences*. 8(11): 2142-2147.

Chapter 2 CHARACTERIZATION AND EVALUATION OF LEACHATE CONTAMINATION POTENTIAL OF LEACHATE FROM MUNICIPAL SOLID WASTE DUMPSITES IN SRI LANKA

Abstract

Open dumping of municipal solid waste (MSW) is the most common way of handling solid waste in Sri Lanka due to high cost involved with advanced technologies for landfilling, lack of technical capacity, lack of know-how to manage landfill sites, and so on. Landfill leachate generated from the MSW open dump sites must be treated before dispose into the environment as it creates many social and environmental problems. Characterization of leachate is important to identify the most critical pollutants present in the leachate and thereby to introduce suitable and applicable treatment technologies such as *in-situ* permeable reactive barrier technologies for contaminant remediation. Moreover, quantification of contaminants present in leachate is important in deciding remediation technologies for a particular site as well as to compare the contaminant potential of dumpsites in a region. Some indices (eg: leachate pollution index) have been developed to quantify the leachate contaminant potential. Therefore, the objective of this study are to characterize leachate collected from several MSW open dumpsites in Sri Lanka and to evaluate contamination potentials of municipal solid waste dumpsites based on leachate pollution index (LPI) and quality rating scale (QRS). The leachate samples were collected from 12 landfill sites located in Matale, Hambantota, Kataragama, Bandaragama, Kolonnawa, Gampola, Gohagoda, Wennappuwa, Rathnapura, Negombo, Galle, and Matara. For the collected samples, general water quality parameters (pH, EC, DO, ORP, and SS), organic pollutants (BOD₅, COD, TOC, IC, TN, TP), typical anions and cations (Cl⁻, SO₄²⁻, NH₄⁺, K⁺, Mg²⁺, Ca²⁺, etc), and heavy metals (Cr, Mn, Fe, Se, Pb, etc) were measured. The results showed that most of the pollutants (F⁻, Cl⁻, PO₄³⁻, NH₄⁺, Fe, Se, Pb, BOD₅, and COD) exceeded the maximum tolerance limits in Sri Lankan Standards. It was found that the BOD₅/COD ratio ranged from 0.01 to 0.6 for the most samples and the highest value of 0.6 was observed in the Kolonnawa sample. Measured EC values for all samples were high and varied ranging from 4.5 to 38.3 mS/cm, indicating the biological treatment system alone would not be effective in reducing the pollutants especially for heavy

metals. The highest LPI_{or} and LPI_{hm} of 91.5 and 10.12, respectively resulted from the Kolonnawa dumpsite. However, the highest LPI_{in} of 65.4 is resulted in leachate from Bandaragama. Further, the overall LPI is highest in leachate from Kolonnawa dumpsite followed by Bandaragama and Rathnapura sites. Accordingly, Kolonnawa landfill leachate is polluted with organic pollutants and heavy metals and it has the highest potential of environmental pollution by means of organic pollutants and heavy metals. The leachate from Bandaragama site has the highest pollution potential of inorganic pollutants. Even though, the concentrations of As, Cr, Cd and Pb are low, the impact of those metals is higher which is shown by QRS values. Most of the heavy metals studied showed a higher concentration in Kolonnawa leachate sample which could be a result of dumping industrial wastes in to the Kolonnawa dumpsite since it is located near to the industrial area. The results of this study will be used in developing site specific remediation technologies in landfill leachate treatment.

2.1 Introduction

Landfills are the most common way of disposing municipal solid wastes in developing countries due to the higher capacity of landfills at lower cost than other waste management techniques. In the case of Sri Lanka, almost all the landfills are operated as unmanaged and uncontrolled open dumpsites as a result of lack of technology, high cost of operation and maintenance, and running out of capacity etc.

There are several forms of landfill emissions as gaseous emissions of volatile organic compounds, airborne particulate matter and landfill leachate (Slack et al., 2005). Among them, landfill leachate generation is a serious environmental problem associated with open dumpsites since leachate is highly contaminated with different types of pollutants. The composition of landfill leachate varies from time to time and site to site due to the differences in waste composition, amount of precipitation, moisture content, climatic changes, site hydrology, waste compaction, interaction of leachate with the environment etc. (Kulikowska and Klimiuk, 2008; Umar et al., 2010).

Landfill leachate consists of organic matter (biodegradable and non-biodegradable), inorganic pollutants and hazardous substances (Slack et al., 2005; Umar et al., 2010). Hazardous substances in MSW are in the form of paints, mercury containing wastes, batteries, pharmaceuticals, vehicle maintenance products and many other diffuse products (Slack et al., 2005). Thus, the disposal of landfill leachate prior to the treatment is a source of hazard to receiving water bodies.

Landfill leachate characterization is necessary to have a proper treatment facility since the composition of landfill leachate is varied from site to site. This will facilitate the introduction of site specific technologies such as in-situ permeable reactive barriers for the treatment of landfill leachate. Mostly, studies have been conducted to assess pollution level by measuring the concentrations of different contaminants and/or comparing the concentration of each contaminant to the standards of the respective contaminant (Christensen et al., 1998; Kang et al., 2002; Tatsi and Zouboulis, 2002; Aziz et al., 2010). An index called leachate pollution index (LPI) has been developed and used to quantify the leachate contamination potential elsewhere (Kumar and Alappat, 2005a). LPI is a quantitative tool which measures the leachate pollution potential in a comparative and an increasing scale. Even though LPI gives an overview of the leachate contamination potential of landfill leachate, it does not provide the dominating pollutants in leachate. Therefore, sub-indices of LPI have been developed to describe the dominating pollutant and the impact from each pollutant type (Kumar and Alappat, 2005b).

Leachate pollution potential of a particular landfill in terms of overall LPI and its sub-indices are important in planning and designing of remedial measures for environmental pollution by landfill leachate and to compare the pollution potential of different landfill sites. The information on dominant pollutant in a particular landfill site may help to apply the treatment methods giving the priority for that.

Moreover, only few data are available on leachate characteristics for the open dumpsites in Sri Lanka. Therefore, the objectives of this study are to characterize landfill leachate collected from several MSW landfills and to evaluate and compare the contamination potential of landfill leachate from different sites in Sri Lanka, based on sub-indices of LPI and the overall LPI for a particular site.

2.2 Materials and Methods

2.2.1 Sampling of landfill leachate

Landfill leachate were collected from several open dumpsites located in different areas of Sri Lanka to represent Wet and Dry zones of Sri Lanka (Fig. 2.1). All the selected landfill sites are in active operation. Samples were collected in polypropylene bottles and leachate was collected as to minimize the headspaces in the bottles to prevent aeration of the samples. Landfill leachate sampling was carried out from November 2011 to August 2012. The collected samples were transported to the laboratory and stored at 4°C until analysis of the samples.

2.2.2 Leachate characterization

Mainly, four groups of pollutants, general water quality parameters, anions and cations, organic pollutants and heavy metals were measured in collected leachate samples using standard methods. Dissolved oxygen (DO), pH, oxidation reductive potential (ORP), electrical conductivity (EC), suspended solids, total nitrogen (TN) and total phosphorous (TP) were measured as general water quality parameters. DO, pH, ORP and EC were analyzed using DO meter (DKK-TOA corporation, Japan), pH meter (DKK-TOA corporation, Japan), ORP meter (DKK-TOA corporation, Japan) and EC meter (DKK-TOA corporation, Japan), respectively. Suspended solids were measured by filtration followed by oven drying. TN and TP were analyzed using colorimetric method (UV mini 1240, Shimadzu, Japan).

Ion chromatography technique was used to measure the anions and cations in landfill leachate. Anions, F⁻, Cl⁻, NO₂-N, NO₃-N, SO₄²⁻ and PO₄³⁻ and cations, NH₄⁺, Mg²⁺ and Ca²⁺ were analyzed in collected landfill leachate samples using CLASS-VP software (Shimadzu, Japan).

The amount of organic pollutants in landfill leachate was measured in terms of biochemical oxygen demand for five days (BOD₅), chemical oxygen demand (COD), total organic carbon (TOC), inorganic carbon (IC) and total carbon (TC). TOC analyzer (TOC-V CSH, Shimadzu, Japan) was used to measure the TOC and IC. TC was calculated from IC and TOC results for each sample. Standard methods were used to analyze BOD₅ (Water test kit, Kyoritsu chemical check lab, corp., Japan) and COD (HACH DRB 200, USA) in leachate samples.

Landfill leachate was characterized by total heavy metal availability. Total concentrations of Cr, Mn, Fe, Ni, Cu, Zn, As, Se, Sr, Cd, Sb and Pb were measured in inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometer (ICPM-8500, Shimadzu, Japan). Concentrations of pollutants were compared among landfill sites as well as with the maximum tolerance limit of each pollutant based on Sri Lankan Standards.



Figure 2.1: Landfill leachate sampling sites

Comparison of heavy metal concentrations in leachate to the maximum permissible levels was carried out by calculating quality rating scales as per the eq. 2.1 (Ramakrishnaiah et al., 2009).

$$q_i = \frac{C_i}{S_i} \times 100 \tag{2.1}$$

Where,

 q_i = Quality rating scale (%)

C_i = Concentration of heavy metal in leachate (mg L⁻¹)

 S_i =Tolerance limit/maximum permissible level of heavy metal (mg L⁻¹)

Sub-indices of leachate pollution index (LPI) and the overall LPI were used to characterize landfill leachate from different sites. Sub-indices of LPI; LPI inorganic

(LPI_{in}), LPI organic (LPI_{or}) and LPI heavy metals (LPI_{hm}) were calculated as per the Equation 2.2 (Kumar and Alappat, 2005a). Finally, overall LPI for leachate samples was calculated using Equation 2.3.

$$LPI = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} w_{i} p_{i}}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} w_{i}}$$
(2.2)

Where LPI is the leachate pollution index, w_i is the weight factor for the ith pollutant variable, p_i is the sub index score of the ith pollutant variable and n is the number of leachate pollutant variables used in calculating LPI.

$$Overall LPI = 0.232 LPI_{or} + 0.257 LPI_{in} + 0.511 LPI_{hm}$$
(2.3)

Leachate quality of the studied open dumpsites were compared with the Sri Lankan standards for wastewater to be discharged into inland surface water and composition of landfill leachate as reported by Kjeldsen et al. (2002).

2.3 **Results and Discussion**

Leachate quality is affected by environmental factors (temperature, moisture content), climatic factors (precipitation, drought), and composition of wastes. Thus, the quality of leachate changes with time and the location of the dumpsite. Selected open dumpsites for leachate collection are located in different areas of Sri Lanka. Most of them are located in the Wet Zone (Matale, Bandaragama, Kolonnawa, Gampola, Gohagoda, Wennappuwa, Rathnapura, Negombo and Galle) of Sri Lanka while Hambantota and Kataragama are located in the Dry Zone. Open dumpsite located in Matara belongs to the Intermediate Zone of Sri Lanka.

2.3.1 Variation of general water quality parameters

General water quality parameters in landfill leachate are illustrated in Fig. 2.2. Almost all the leachate samples show a basic pH value ranging from 7.5 to 8.6 except for Rathnapura and Kolonnawa samples. The pH of leachate from Rathnapura and Kolonnawa dumpsites showed an acidic pH, 5.7 and 6.24, respectively. Generally, the fresh landfill leachate shows an acidic pH than matured leachate. Chen (1996) has observed the same variation in a study carried out to assess leachate characteristics. He has found that the pH of landfill leachate is increased with the age of the landfill due to the biological decomposition of organic N into ammonium N. The result in this study also shows the same tendency as that indicated by Chen (1996).

All the landfill leachate samples have a very low DO concentration which shows an anaerobic condition. This is also verified by the negative ORP values of the leachate samples. Electrical conductivity of all the samples ranged from 450 to 3830 mS m⁻¹. The highest EC was reported from Kolonnawa leachate sample which indicates that the dissolved ion content in landfill leachate from Kolonnawa site is higher over the other sites.

Total residue on evaporation represents the sum of both suspended and dissolved solids including colloidal materials in leachate. Kolonnawa leachate sample has the highest total residue among all the samples. Other samples had more or less similar concentration of total residue. However, approximately equal amount of suspended solids concentration were observed in all the samples. Therefore, the rest of the total residue is dissolved solids (DS) and the DS concentration is much higher in Kolonnawa sample than that in the other leachate samples.

2.3.2 Anions and cations in landfill leachate Nitrogenous pollutants in landfill leachate

Fig. 2.3 shows NH₄-N, NO₂-N and NO₃-N concentrations variation in landfill leachate from different dumpsites. Landfill leachate samples from Hambantota and Kataragama show very low concentrations of nitrogenous pollutants compared to other samples. Moreover, almost all the samples show very low concentrations of NO_{2}^{-} and NO_{3}^{-} as well as a high concentration of NH_{4}^{+} . Nitrite and nitrate concentrations were varied from 0 to 58.29 mg L⁻¹ and 2.19 to 132 mg L⁻¹, respectively. On the other hand, ammonium concentration in leachate samples studied varied from 34 to 2753 mg L⁻¹. The highest concentration of NO_{2}^{-} and NO_{3}^{-} were shown in landfill leachate from Gohagoda and Negombo open dumpsites, respectively. As shown in Fig. 2.3, the lowest and the highest NH_{4}^{+} were shown in leachate from Kataragama and Matale dumpsites, respectively.


Figure 2.2: Variation of general water quality parameters in landfill leachates from different dumpsites



Figure 2.3: Nitrogenous pollutant variation in landfill leachate

In the case of nitrogenous pollutants, total ammonia, which has two forms as ammonium ion (NH_4^+) and free ammonia (NH_3) , is important (Sri Shalini and Joseph, 2012). From the two forms, NH_3 is the active substrate and the most important N compound in surface water and other ecosystems. Ammonia concentration in landfill leachate varies with the age of the dumpsite ranging 100-

5500 mg L⁻¹ (Renoui et al., 2008). Sri Shalini and Joseph (2012) have stated that four groups of NH₃ as, beneficial (50-200 mg L⁻¹), detrimental (200-1000 mg L⁻¹), inhibitory (1500-3000 mg L⁻¹) and toxic (>5000 mg L⁻¹). However, in this study ammonia was not estimated as free ammonia in leachate and it was measured as NH₄⁺. Most of the samples show a high concentration (>1000 mg L⁻¹) of NH₄⁺ which indicates that the leachate is from old landfills and the high concentrations are resulted from hydrolysis and fermentation of the nitrogenous fractions of biodegradable substrates (Carley and Mavinic, 1991). Only leachate from Hambantota and Kataragama sites showed very low concentrations of NH₄⁺ and it further suggests that landfill leachate from new landfills has very low NH₄⁺ concentration.

Other anions and cations in landfill leachate

Analysis of F⁻, Cl⁻, SO₄²⁻, PO₄³⁻, Mg²⁺ and Ca²⁺ in leachate was carried out. Fluoride concentration was not detectable in the leachate from Gampola and Gohagoda dumpsites. Very high concentrations compared to maximum permissible level (2 mg L⁻¹) of F⁻ in wastewater to discharge in to inland surface water were observed from other dumpsites. Among them, leachate from Kolonnawa dumpsite showed a very high concentration of F⁻ (117 times higher than max. permissible limit) than other sites.

Chloride concentration in leachate in sites except for Kataragama is ranged from 3 to 6 times higher than the maximum permissible level and the highest concentration was observed in Kolonnawa leachate sample. The high concentrations of F⁻ and Cl⁻ in Kolonnawa landfill leachate could be due to the dumping of specific type of solid waste that contains F⁻ and Cl⁻.

Sri Lankan standards for portable water was used to compare PO_4^{3-} , SO_4^{2-} , Mg^{2+} and Ca^{2+} ions in landfill leachate. Based on that, maximum permissible levels of PO_4^{3-} , SO_4^{2-} , Mg^{2+} and Ca^{2+} are 2.0, 400, 150 and 240 mg L⁻¹, respectively. Even though, the other pollutants are higher in Kolonnawa leachate sample, PO_4^{3-} was not detectable. Some sites showed a higher concentration than maximum permissible level. Very low concentrations of SO_4^{2-} were shown in landfill leachate from Matale, Kataragama and Bandaragama dumpsites. It was varied from 1.4 to 5.3 times higher than the maximum permissible level (400 mg L⁻¹) in other sites studied.

Only three sites, Matale, Hambantota and Bandaragama showed higher concentrations of Mg²⁺ than maximum permissible level in leachate. On the other hand, very low concentrations of Ca²⁺ were observed in all the sites. These two cations, Mg²⁺ and Ca²⁺ are important in water quality as they cause hardness in water creating many problems such as formation of soap scum, galvanic corrosion etc.

2.3.3 Organic pollutants

Total organic and inorganic carbon in leachate

Total organic carbon and inorganic carbon content variation in landfill leachate are illustrated in Fig. 2.4. Total carbon content in leachate is illustrated together with TOC and IC (Fig. 2.4). Accordingly, TC content is very high in Kolonnawa leachate sample than the other samples. In addition, IC content is very low in Kolonnawa, Matara and Galle leachate samples than the other sites and those were 50, 80 and 49 mg L⁻¹, respectively. Thus, almost all the TC in that leachate is organic carbon. Therefore, the wastes disposed in these landfill sites could be organic in nature. On the other hand, IC content is higher than the TOC content in landfill leachate from Wennanppuwa, Rathnapura and Negombo sites.

Other organic pollutants in leachate

Maximum permissible levels of BOD₅ and COD are 30 and 250 mg L⁻¹, respectively based on Sri Lankan standards. Both lowest BOD₅ and COD have resulted from Gohagoda landfill leachate and the highest BOD₅ and COD have resulted from Kolonnawa landfill leachate (Table 2.1). Both BOD₅ and COD in Kolonnawa landfill leachate are extremely higher than the other leachate samples and the concentrations are 49600 and 82577 mg L⁻¹, respectively. Kolonnawa landfill site is located near the Capital of Sri Lanka and the disposal of industrial wastes near Colombo area could be the reason for the high concentration of BOD₅ and COD.

Biodegradability of wastes can be measured by the ratio of BOD_5/COD (Kulikowska and Klimiuk, 2008). In this study, the ratio of BOD_5/COD varies from 0.01- 0.6 which indicates that the amount of biodegradable wastes are different in dumpsites studied. The highest amount of biodegradable wastes is in Kolonnawa landfill leachate followed by Rathnapura leachate. The ratio of BOD_5/COD in Kolonnawa and Rathnapura landfill leachates are 0.6 and 0.27, respectively. All the other samples show very low values of BOD_5/COD ratio which indicates a considerable amount of biologically inert materials in leachates. Moreover, it has shown that the ratio of 0.1 or lower is resulted from old landfill leachate (Kurniawan et al., 2006).

In contrast, the TN showed a higher concentration in leachate from Matale and Gampola landfill sites and the TP concentrations were low in all the leachate samples.

2.3.4 Heavy metals in landfill leachate

Heavy metals in landfill leachate were determined as total metal concentration. Heavy metal concentrations were compared with the maximum permissible level of heavy metal in wastewater to be discharged in to inland surface water (CEA, 1990). Heavy metal concentrations and the respective quality rating scales (QRS) are listed in Table 2.2 and 2.3, respectively.

The impact of heavy metal is different from each other and accordingly the maximum permissible level is different. Therefore, it is important to consider a common factor like QRS to study the impact of heavy metals. Table 2.2 shows the maximum permissible level of heavy metals based on Sri Lankan standards for wastewater to be discharged in to inland surface waters (CEA, 1990). Accordingly, maximum permissible levels of As, Cr, Cd and Pb are lower than the other metals.



Figure 2.4: Variation of TOC and IC in landfill leachate

Even though, the concentrations of those metals are low, the impact of them is higher which is shown by the QRS (Table 2.3). Most of the heavy metals studied showed a higher concentration in Kolonnawa leachate sample which could be a result of dumping industrial wastes on to the Kolonnawa dumpsite since it is located near to an industrial area.

Sample	BOD ₅	COD	BOD ₅ /COD	TN	ТР
Matale	71	4236	0.02	1549	43
Hambantota	49	2475	0.02	224	12
Kataragama	38	1047	0.04	180	20
Bandargama	938	9279	0.10	305	24
Kolonnawa	49600	82577	0.60	664	11
Gampola	41	1249	0.03	1212	6
Gohagoda	19	714	0.03	684	8
Wennappuwa	86	2405	0.04	361	18
Rathnapura	3757	13951	0.27	558	35
Negombo	294	18328	0.02	703	86

Table 2.1: Biochemical oxygen demand, chemical oxygen demand, total nitrogen and total phosphorous content in leachate

Landfill leachate from Kataragama landfill shows only high concentration of Pb and the concentration of other metals are lower than the maximum permissible level. It was observed that most of the wastes dumped in the Kataragama landfill are food wastes from the nearby temple. It can be the reason for low levels of other pollutants also in Kataragama landfill leachate.

Even though, the concentrations of Ni and Cu are higher in most of the leachate samples, the impact is very low compared to other metals. The highest QRS for Ni (149%) was obtained for Kolonnawa leachate sample and none of the QRS values of Cu exceeded 100.

Among the heavy metals studied in this study, Cr, Fe, As, Se and Cd show higher QRS for most of the samples. However, some researchers have mentioned that Fe is not considered as a heavy metal and that falls onto the group called inorganic macro-components which occur at high concentrations (Slack et al., 2005).

Sample	Cr	Fe	Ni	Cu	Zn	As	Se	Cd	Pb
Matale	345	60762	115	573	6876	522	1935	100	1777
Hambantota	80	5341	226	166	19909	678	2522	172	492
Kataragama	11	1117	89	58	638	106	400	50	123
Bandargama	329	7167	<i>912</i>	227	<i>5362</i>	722	2607	90	479
Kolonnawa	1968	346930	4473	55	11759	705	2443	15	421
Gampola	220	5546	335	734	<i>462</i>	164	461	4	34
Gohagoda	139	3004	331	334	389	148	465	1	19
Wennappuwa	363	2501	399	431	409	939	2812	53	87
Rathnapura	439	56343	1311	627	1685	1551	<i>4922</i>	52	168
Negombo	330	20111	666	535	2062	846	2184	51	333
Matara	830	7528	571	464	500	1219	3705	48	60
Galle	486	15477	673	564	<i>593</i>	1796	5947	52	169
Max. permissible level	100	3000	3000	3000	5000	200	500	100	100

Table 2.2: Heavy metal concentrations in landfill leachate and the maximum tolerance limits of heavy metals. Values are in µg L⁻¹

Sample	QRS_{Cr}	QRS_{Fe}	QRS_{Ni}	QRS_{Cu}	QRS_{Zn}	QRS_{As}	QRS_{Se}	QRS_{Cd}	QRS_{Pb}
Matale	345	2025	38	19	<i>138</i>	261	387	100	1777
Hambantota	80	<i>178</i>	8	6	<i>398</i>	339	504	172	492
Kataragama	11	37	3	2	13	53	80	50	123
Bandargama	329	239	31	8	107	361	<i>521</i>	90	479
Kolonnawa	1968	<i>11564</i>	149	2	235	<i>352</i>	488	15	421
Gampola	220	185	11	24	9	82	92	4	34
Gohagoda	<i>139</i>	100	11	11	8	74	<i>93</i>	1	19
Wennappuwa	363	83	13	14	8	469	5 62	53	87
Rathnapura	439	1878	44	21	34	775	984	52	<i>168</i>
Negombo	331	670	22	18	42	<i>423</i>	437	51	333
Matara	831	251	19	16.	10	609	741	48	60
Galle	486	<i>516</i>	22	19	12	898	1189	52	169

Table 2.3: Quality rating scale values of heavy metals for leachate samples. Values are in percentages

2.3.5 Leachate Pollution Index

Leachate pollution index is a quantitative tool to evaluate the leachate contamination potential over time and to compare leachate contamination potential of different landfills in a given area (Rafizul et al., 2012). Even though, LPI has been developed using 18 pollutant parameters, it can be calculated from the less number of pollutant parameters (Equation 2.2). However, LPI fails to represent the effect of different pollutant groups present in landfill leachate. Therefore, Kumar and Alappat (2005b) have formulated sub-indices of LPI; LPI inorganic (LPI_{in}), LPI organic (LPI_{or}) and LPI heavy metals (LPI_{hm}).

Sub-indices of LPI and overall LPI calculated for Matale landfill leachate sample are shown in Table 2.4. Accordingly, pollution potential by inorganic pollutants is higher in leachate from Matale dumpsite over that of by organic pollutants and heavy metals. Similarly, sub-indices of LPI and overall LPI were calculated for leachates from other sites and for the standards levels of pollutants in wastewater to be discharged into inland surface waters. The calculated values for leachate samples along with the climatic zone and the precipitation data for each site are shown in Table 2.5. Sub-indices of LPI and the overall LPIs for the Sri Lankan standards for wastewater to be discharged into inland surface water and composition of landfill leachate reported in literature are also shown in Table 2.5.

Leachate from Kolonnawa, Rathnapura and Bandaragama showed higher LPI_{or} of 91.53, 62.61 and 51.17, respectively (Table 2.5). On the other hand, the highest values of LPI_{in}, 65.42 and 62.62 were resulted from leachates of Bandaragama and Kolonnawa sites, respectively. Therefore, it indicates that leachates from Kolonnawa, Bandaragama and Rathnapura sites are polluted with organic and inorganic pollutants over the other sites. Leachate from Kolonnawa dumpsite possesses the highest risk of heavy metals which is clearly indicated by the highest LPI_{hm} of 10.12. Moreover, leachates from Gohagoda and Matale sites also showed high risk of contaminant potential of heavy metals even though contaminant potentials of organic and inorganic pollutants are comparatively lower (Table 2.5). Overall LPI was higher in landfill leachate from Kolonnawa, Bandaragama and Rathnapura sites as 442.5, 31.31 and 25.93, respectively.

The results give detailed information about the composition of landfill leachate from each site. Accordingly, leachate of Kolonnawa site has the highest risk of environmental pollution with respect to the organic pollutants and heavy metals. It has found that heavy metal can form colloids or complexes, especially with organic matter in leachate (Christensen and Christensen, 1999; Jensen and Christensen, 1999). Therefore, heavy metals in leachte from Kolonnawa site may form the complexes with high amount of organic matter leading to a high concentration of heavy metals than the other sites. Moreover, Kolonnawa open dumpsite is located in Colombo, the capital of Sri Lanka and therefore the wastes dumped in the site can have all kinds of solid wastes including industrial, household, agricultural wastes (Esakku et al., 2007).

Comparison of LPI values of leachates in this study with the data reported in the literature shows that all the sub-indices of LPI and the overall LPI values for the sites studied are within the range of composition of landfill leachate except LPI_{in} of Kataragama site. The general leachate composition reported in Kjeldsen et al., (2002) are based on the data from newer landfills. Accordingly, it is clear that the leachate generated from the open dumpsites studied possesses characteristics similar to the leachate generated from new landfills.

Index Parameter		Pollutant	Sub-index value,	Weight	w _i p _i
		concentration, mg L ⁻¹	Pi	factor, w _i	
LPI organic,	BOD ₅	71.0	7.0	0.263	1.84
	COD	4.23x10 ³	60.0	0.267	16.02
				0.530	17.86
LPIor					33.70
LPI inorganic,	pH	8.0	5.0	0.214	1.07
	TDS	3.01x10 ⁴	75.0	0.195	14.63
	NH4-N	2.75x10 ³	100.0	0.198	19.80
	Cl-	4.02×10^3	33.0	0.187	6.17
LPI _{in}				0.794	41.67
					52.48
LPI heavy	Total Fe	60.7	6.0	0.088	0.53
metal,	Cu	0.6	6.0	0.098	0.59
	Ni	1.1	7.0	0.102	0.71
	Zn	6.9	6.0	0.110	0.66
	Pb	1.8	12.5	0.123	1.54
	Cr	0.3	5.3	0.125	0.67
	As	0.5	5.3	0.119	0.62
				0.765	5.31
LPI _{hm}					6.94
LPI	0.232LPI _{or} +0.25	57LPI _{in} +0.511LPI _{hm}			24.85

Table 2.4: Sub-indices of LPI and overall LPI for leachate sample from Matale MSW dumpsite

Comparison of sub-indices of LPI of leachate samples with the standards shows that the leachates from all dumpsites contain organic and inorganic pollutants exceeding the Sri Lankan standard limits for the discharge into inland surface waters. Even though, overall LPI value is greater than the reference value, only leachate from Kolonnawa and Gohagoda exceeds the standard limits for the heavy metals as per the LPI_{hm} values. This further confirms the importance of characterizing leachate based on sub-indices of LPI rather than overall LPI, for an effective remediation of pollutants. Therefore, the leachate treatment facility for Kolonnawa and Gohagoda should be focused on removal of heavy metals in addition to the inorganic and organic pollutants. All the other sites have to be implemented with a treatment facility for the removal of organic and inorganic pollutants. In addition, a care has to be taken to prevent increase of heavy metals in leachate from other sites which helps to maintain the LPI_{hm} below the reference LPI_{hm}.

Overall LPI for leachate from all the sites are within the range of LPI for the composition for landfill leachate. Moreover, LPI of leachate from all sites higher than the reference LPI, 7.4 which is based on Sri Lankan standards for wastewater to be discharged into inland surface water. This implies the need for the treatment of leachate from open dumpsites to protect the environment.

The results indicate that the leachate treatment methods to be used in Kolonnawa, Gohagoda and Matale sites should be given a more concern on removal of heavy metals. In addition, special care must be taken to prevent the leachate flow into the natural water bodies especially due to unlined landfills. In the cases of Gohagoda and Matale dumpsites, leachates directly flow into the ground contaminating soil and groundwater sources nearby. Therefore, site specific leachate treatment methods have to be used after characterizing the leachate.

In the cases of Rathnapura and Bandaragama dumpsites, special care must be taken focusing on organic and inorganic pollutants in leachate. Further, it is important to consider on organic matter and heavy metal removal in the leachate treatment facility for the Kolonnawa site. Similarly, sub-indices of LPI gives contaminant potential specific to a group of pollutants in which overall LPI fails to give. Thus, the information provided by sub-indices of LPI can be used in planning, designing and implementation of remediation measures for a particular site. However, it is important to note that here; some error can be existed as all the 18 parameters were not available in calculating overall LPI as well as sub-indices of LPI. Some researchers have assumed that the concentration of the missing parameters based on the concentrations reported from the other landfills in the region. However, Kumar and Alappat (2005c) have found that the error will not be higher if the sub index values of the missing parameters are not too high or too low.

Sampling site	LPIor	LPI _{in}	LPI _{hm}	Overall LPI
Matale	33.70	52.48	6.94	24.85
Hambantota	29.17	34.96	6.08	18.86
Kataragama	24.65	7.71	5.02	10.26
Bandaragama	51.17	65.42	5.59	31.54
Kolonnawa	91.53	62.62	10.53	42.71
Gampola	22.62	44.77	5.17	19.40
Gohagoda	17.10	29.18	5.03	14.03
Wennappuwa	38.59	15.97	5.39	15.81
Rathnapura	62.61	32.35	5.75	25.78
Negombo	45.26	43.31	5.59	24.49
Landfill leachate ^a	7-94	11.6-61.1	5-62.9	7.2-69.7
Reference ^b	8.0	6.7	7.5	7.4

Table 2.5: Sub-indices of LPI and overall LPI for leachate from each site with climatic zone and precipitation data

^a based on the data reported in Kjeldsen et al. (2002).

^b based on Sri Lankan standards for wastewater to be discharged into inland surface water

The pollution potential may be affected by the type of wastes dumped in the site. For example the major sources of organic pollutants are domestic and industrial origin (Holt, 2000). Further, high concentration of Fe in leachate indicates that the Fe and steel wastes have been placed on dumpsites (Mor et al., 2006).

2.4 Summary and Conclusions

The results of the study showed clearly the complex nature of landfill leachate from different sites due to the differences in waste composition, moisture content, climatic conditions etc. the effect of each pollutant was different from site to site as the concentration of each pollutant varies with the site. It was noted that the most of the pollutants, BOD₅, COD, TOC and some heavy metals are much higher in landfill leachate from Kolonnawa site while nitrogenous pollutants are higher in landfill leachate from Matale dumpsite. The highest concentrations of BOD₅, COD, and TOC are 49600, 82577 and 26970 mg L⁻¹, respectively.

Sub-indices of leachate pollution index (LPI) provide pollutant potential of landfill leachate specific to a type of pollutant group where overall LPI fails to give. Highest LPI_{or} and LPI_{hm} of 91.53 and 10.12 were shown by leachates from Kolonnawa site. However, the highest LPI_{in} of 65.4 is resulted in leachate from Bandaragama. Leachates from Kolonnawa site showed high risk of contaminant potential of heavy metals as shown by QRS and LPI values. It can be concluded that the leachate from Kolonnawa dumpsite possess the highest risk of environmental pollution. LPI of leachate from all sites shows a higher value than the reference LPI. This very clearly shows the importance of assessing pollution potential with respect to sub-indices of LPI and the results can be used in planning, designing and implementation of leachate treatment methods for each site.

Even though the quality rating values of most of the heavy metals are exceeding the value of 100, only leachate from Kolonnawa site exceeded the reference value of LPI_{hm} . Though the heavy metals are not shown as the critical pollutant, heavy metals are most difficult to clean and cause serious problems to the releasing bodies. On the other hand, there are many studies on inorganic and organic pollutants and thereby heavy metals were selected for further studies in this research.

Supporting papers

- **Sewwandi, B. G. N.,** Koide Takahiro, Ken Kawamoto, Shoichiro Hamamoto, Shingo Asamoto and Hiroyasu Sato.2012. Characterization of Landfill Leachate from Municipal Solid Waste Landfills in Sri Lanka. In Proc. 2nd International Conference on Sustainable Built Environment. 14-16 December 2012. Kandy, Sri Lanka. pp 21.
- Sewwandi, B. G. N., Koide Takahiro, Ken Kawamoto, Shoichiro Hamamoto, Shingo Asamoto and Hiroyasu Sato. 2013. Evaluation of leachate contamination potential of municipal solid waste dumpsites in Sri Lanka using Leachate Pollution Index. 14th International Waste Management and Landfill Symposium. 30th Sep-4th Oct, 2013. Sardinia, Italy. pp. 222.

References

- Aziz, S. Q., H. A. Aziz, M. S. Yusoff, M. J. K. Bashir and M. Umar (2010). "Leachate characterization in semi-aerobic and anaerobic sanitary landfills: A comparative study." Journal of Environmental Management. **91**(12): 2608-2614.
- Carley, B. N. and D. S. Mavinic (1991). "The effects of external carbon loading on nitrification and denitrification of a high ammonia landfill leachate." Res. J. Water pollut. Control Fed. 63(1): 51-58.
- Chen, P. H. (1996). "Assessment of leachates from sanitary landfills: Impact of age, rainfall, and treatment." Environment International. **22**(2): 225-237.
- Christensen, J. B. and T. Christensen (1999). "Complexation of Cd, Ni, and Zn by DOC in Polluted Groundwater: A Comparison of Approaches Using Resin Exchange, Aquifer Material Sorption, and Computer Speciation Models (WHAM and MINTEQA2)." Environ. Sci. Technol. . 33 3857-3863.
- Christensen, J. B., D. L. Jensen, C. GrØN, Z. Filip and T. H. Christensen (1998).
 "Characterization of the Dissolved Organic Carbon In Landfill Leachate-Polluted Groundwater." Water Research. 32(1): 125-135.
- Esakku, S., O. P. Karthikeyan, K. Joseph, R. Nagendran, K. Palanivelu, K. P. M. N. Pathirana, A. K. Karunarathna and B. F. A. Basnayake (2007). "Seasonal variations in leachate characteristics from municipal solid waste dumpsites in India and Sri Lanka." International Conference on Sustainable Solid Waste Management: 344–347.
- Holt, M. S. (2000). "Sources of chemical contaminants and routes into the freshwater environment." Food and Chemical Toxicology. 38, Supplement 1(0): S21-S27.
- Jensen, D. L. and T. H. Christensen (1999). "Colloidal and dissolved metals in leachates from four Danish landfills." Water Research. **33**(9): 2139-2147.
- Kang, K.-H., H. S. Shin and H. Park (2002). "Characterization of humic substances present in landfill leachates with different landfill ages and its implications." Water Research. 36(16): 4023-4032.

- Kjeldsen, P., M. A. Barlaz, A. P. Rooker, A. Baun, A. Ledin and T. H. Christensen (2002). "Present and Long-Term Composition of MSW Landfill Leachate: A Review." Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology. 32(4): 297-336.
- Kulikowska, D. and E. Klimiuk (2008). "The effect of landfill age on municipal leachate composition." Bioresource Technology. **99**(13): 5981-5985.
- Kumar, D. and B. Alappat (2005a). "Evaluating leachate contamination potential of landfill sites using leachate pollution index." Clean Technologies and Environmental Policy. 7(3): 190-197.
- Kumar, D. and B. J. Alappat (2005b). "Analysis of leachate pollution index and formulation of sub-leachate pollution indices." Waste Management & Research. 22: 230-239.
- Kumar, D. and B. Alappat (2005c). "Errors Involved in the Estimation of Leachate Pollution Index." Practice Periodical of Hazardous, Toxic, and Radioactive Waste Management. 9(2): 103-111.
- Kurniawan, T. A., W.-H. Lo and G. Y. S. Chan (2006). "Degradation of recalcitrant compounds from stabilized landfill leachate using a combination of ozone-GAC adsorption treatment." Journal of Hazardous Materials. **137**(1): 443-455.
- Mor, S., K. Ravindra, R. P. Dahiya and A. Chandra (2006). "Leachate Characterization and Assessment of Groundwater Pollution Near Municipal Solid Waste Landfill Site." Environmental Monitoring and Assessment. 118(1-3): 435-456.
- Rafizul, I. M., M. M. Minhaz and M. Alamgir (2012). "Analysis of errors involved in the estimation of leachate pollution index due to nonavailability of leachate parameter." Iranica Journal of Energy and Environment. 3(3): 270-279.
- Ramakrishnaiah, C. R., C. Sadashivaiah and G. Ranganna (2009). "Assessment of Water Quality Index for The Groundwater in Tumkur Taluk, Karnataka State, India." E-Journal of Chemistry. 6(2): 523-530.
- Slack, R. J., J. R. Gronow and N. Voulvoulis (2005). "Household hazardous waste in municipal landfills: contaminants in leachate." Science of the Total Environment. 337(1–3): 119-137.

- Tatsi, A. A. and A. I. Zouboulis (2002). "A field investigation of the quantity and quality of leachate from a municipal solid waste landfill in a Mediterranean climate (Thessaloniki, Greece)." Advances in Environmental Research. 6(3): 207-219.
- Umar, M., H. A. Aziz and M. S. Yusoff (2010). "Variability of Parameters Involved in Leachate Pollution Index and Determination of LPI from Four Landfills in Malaysia." International Journal of Chemical Engineering. 2010(1): 1-6.

Chapter 3 ADSORPTION OF Cd(II) AND Pb(II) ONTO HUMIC ACID-TREATED COCONUT (Cocos nucifera) HUSK

Abstract

This study was conducted to characterize the adsorption of Cd²⁺ and Pb²⁺ by raw coconut husk (RCH) and humic acid-treated coconut husk (HACH). Grounded and sieved coconut husk (CH) from Sri Lanka was treated with humic acid to use as the adsorbent in laboratory experiments. Capacities of HACH and RCH for adsorption of Cd²⁺ and Pb²⁺ at different pH, ionic strengths, initial metal concentrations, and contact times between adsorbent and adsorbate were measured. The effects of binary metal solution, anions, and cations on adsorptions of Cd²⁺ and Pb²⁺ by treated and non-treated CH in batch experiments were also examined. The surface characteristics of HACH and RCH were investigated by scanning electron micrography (SEM), X-ray energy dispersion analysis (EDAX), methylene blue (MB), and Brunauer, Emmett and Teller (BET) methods to explain the results. Results showed that adsorption of Cd²⁺ and Pb²⁺ ions by HACH was independent of pH and ionic strength. The maximum adsorption capacities of Cd²⁺ and Pb²⁺ of HACH were 47.28 and 66.26 mg g⁻¹ and were greater than 24.24 and 21.21 mg g⁻¹ for RCH. The adsorption of both Cd2+ and Pb2+ onto HACH was a chemical sorption, and Pb2+ adsorption needed a longer reaction time than Cd²⁺ adsorption. The adsorption reaction rates of Cd²⁺ and Pb²⁺ of HACH were 0.056 and 3.17 mg g⁻¹ min⁻¹. Some anions and cations affected the adsorption of Cd²⁺ and Pb²⁺ onto HACH. Based on the results from adsorption tests under different conditions, RCH and HACH are effective for individual removal of Cd²⁺ and Pb²⁺ from aqueous solutions. However, humic acid treatment effectively removes metal ions from single metal solutions, although the removal of metal ions in the presence of co-existing ions and other anions and cations could be retarded.

3.1 Introduction

Industrial discharge of toxic substances like heavy metals and their accumulation in the environment causes degradation of the ecosystem (Xu et al., 2008; Bansal et al., 2009; Lesmana et al., 2009; Bulgariu and Bulgariu, 2012). At present, various sources of heavy metals are recognized: electroplating, batteries, metal surface coating treatments, and industries such as textile, pigments, plastics, and mining (Bulgariu and Bulgariu, 2012; Cheng et al., 2012). The removal of heavy metals from industrial wastewater is of great importance due to their impact on the environment. As a result, different treatment methods including chemical precipitation (Kornboonraksa et al., 2009; Fu et al., 2012), coagulation-flocculation (Amakrone et al., 1997), floatation and electrochemical processes (Raghu and Ahmed Basha, 2007; Belkacem et al., 2008), adsorption (El-Shafey, 2007; Ofomaja and Ho, 2007; Bansal et al., 2009; Najim et al., 2009), membrane filtration (Mavrov et al., 2003), and ion exchange (Dabrowski et al., 2004) have been used in removing heavy metals from wastewater. The use of advanced technologies for treating wastewater, however, has become limited, especially in developing countries, due to their high cost and low feasibility in small-scale industries (Pagnanelli et al., 2001; Liu et al., 2010; Mahmoud et al., 2010).

Among the different methods of removing heavy metals, on the other hand, biosorption has become popular recently due to the simplicity of the process, effectiveness, and low cost (Cheng et al., 2012). Different types of biosorbents from agricultural by-products and biowaste materials such as sawdust (Božić et al., 2009; Sewwandi et al., 2012), rice husk (Bansal et al., 2009), algal waste biomass (Bulgariu and Bulgariu, 2012), and oil extracts (Rao and Khan, 2009) have been used in heavy metal removal. Raw and modified sawdust (SD) have been used by Sewwandi et al. (2012) to remove Cd²⁺ and Pb²⁺ from aqueous solutions. They found that raw SD is more capable of removing mentioned metals than acid- or base-treated SD. Božić et al. (2009) studied the abilities of SD of three different trees to remove Cu²⁺ and Fe²⁺ from synthetic wastewater and reported that the initial concentration of the metals and adsorbent concentration strongly affected the removal process.

Rice husk (RH) has been used with pretreatments such as boiling and formaldehyde treatments to remove Cr⁶⁺ from synthetic wastewater (Bansal et al., 2009), and the two treatments were not found to be different. Boiled RH would be more prevalent in small-scale industries to remove Cr⁶⁺. Green algae waste biomass has been used to remove Pb²⁺, Cd²⁺, and Co²⁺ from aqueous solutions. The best removal of heavy metals was obtained at pH 5 and a contact time of 60 s (Bulgariu and Bulgariu, 2012). Rao and Khan (2009) studied the capacity of Neem oil cake to remove Cu²⁺ and Cd²⁺. The results showed that the maximum sorption of metals onto the biosorbent occurs in acidic medium and that it increases with an increase in the initial metal concentration.

Coconut husk (CH) is a byproduct of the coconut industry, and it is abundantly available in tropical countries such as India, Sri Lanka, and Thailand. CH is rich in short/medium length fibers with a typical diameter of hundreds of micrometers and powdered coir pith/dust with a particle size ranging from a few micrometers to a few millimeters (Nam et al., 2011). According to Abad et al. (2002), the coir dust obtained from Sri Lankan coconut (Cocos nucifera L.) averages 476 g kg⁻¹ lignin, 329 g kg⁻¹ cellulose, and 56 g kg⁻¹ hemicellulose on dry weight basis. Raw and treated coir pith have also been used for wastewater treatment. Makehelwala et al. (2009) studied the mechanism of Cr⁶⁺ adsorption by coir pith and found that reductive adsorption of Cr⁶⁺ occurred. Moreover, they found that the adsorption is dependent on pH and ionic strength. Adsorptions of Co²⁺, Cr³⁺, and Ni²⁺ onto coir pith have been studied as single ions and a mixture of ions (Parab et al., 2006). The results of the study showed that coir pith is efficient as a low cost adsorbent to remove these metals. In addition, coir pith carbon (Kavitha and Namasivayam, 2007) and ZnCl₂activated coir pith carbon (Namasivayam and Sangeetha, 2004) have been used to remove methylene blue and phosphate in laboratory experiments. However, while modification of different biomass types with chemical substances has given better removal of heavy metals from wastewater (Gode et al., 2008; Liu, et al., 2010; Wong et al., 2003), less attention has been paid to the treatment of CH to increase its metal removal efficiency.

Humic acid is a naturally occurring substance in soils, marine and lake sediments, natural waters, and peat that has a comparatively large molecule. It contains functional groups such as -COOH, -OH, -C=O, and -NH₂ that can affect the bonding distribution of cations of trace metals in the environment (Lubal et al., 1998; Coles and Yong, 2006). Therefore, the use of humic acid for modification of a biomass may enhance its metal uptake capacity. In addition, real wastewater contains various physical and chemical substances including heavy metals, anions, and cations that can interfere with the adsorption of heavy metals in binary metal solutions and the effect of anions and cations on adsorption. Certain anions (SO_{4²⁻} and PO_{4³⁻}) and cations (Mg²⁺and Ca²⁺) that are commonly found in natural environment can interfere the adsorption of heavy metals in actual field conditions. Therefore, the objectives of this study were (1) to determine the adsorption capacity of HACH for Cd²⁺ and Pb²⁺ adsorption at different pH, ionic strength, initial metal concentration,

and contact time of adsorbent and adsorbate, (2) to study the effects of Cd^{2+} and Pb^{2+} on adsorption in a binary metal solution, and (3) to study the effects of anions and cations on adsorption.

3.2 Materials and Methods

3.2.1 Materials used

Coconut husk (CH) from the species *Cocos nucifera* is abundantly available in Sri Lanka as a byproduct of the coconut industry. CH was collected and sundried for several days after removal of the nut. Collected CH was ground and sieved to obtain the < 350 μ m fraction for the experiments. Humic acid sodium salt (Sigma Aldrich, MO, USA), hereafter sodium humate, was used to treat CH. Sodium humate salts were dissolved in distilled water to obtain a 50 mg L⁻¹ solution. The pH of the sodium humate solution was 6.85. Stock solutions of Cd²⁺ and Pb²⁺ (1000 mg L⁻¹) were prepared in distilled water using CdCl₂ and PbCl₂ (Sigma Aldrich), respectively. Stock solutions were diluted with distilled water as required to obtain the experimental solutions.

3.2.2 Treatment of CH with sodium humate

The biomaterial treatment method described by Gode et al. (2008) was adopted to treat the CH in this study. A portion of CH was treated with sodium humate to obtain humic acid-treated CH (HACH). The CH was stirred overnight with 50 mg L⁻¹ sodium humate solution at a 1:25 mass:volume ratio at a rate of 400 rpm. Then, the suspension was filtered through a Whatman 42 filter, and the residue was washed with distilled water three times to remove the remaining sodium humate. Finally, the residue was dried at 50°C till the weight became constant.

3.2.3 Surface area and pore size distribution analysis

The surface area of CH was analyzed by methylene blue (MB) adsorption and N₂ adsorption techniques (Santamarina et al., 2002) for < 350 μ m particles. A spectrophotometer (UV-160A, Shimadzu, Japan) was used for the MB adsorption technique, and the complete cation replacement determined by the titration curve was used to derive the surface area value. The chemical formula of MB is C₁₆H₁₈ClN₃S, and in aqueous solution, it is a cationic dye, C₁₆H₁₈ClN₃S⁺, that can be adsorbed to negatively charged surfaces. The amount of adsorbed MB is used to determine the surface area of the particles (Chen et al., 1999). A TriStar II 3020

surface area and porosity analyzer (Micromeritics, GA, USA) was used in this study to analyze the surface area using the BET method. Surface area measurement by the N_2 adsorption technique was performed on a dry specimen obtained by heating and degassing. The measurement was carried out in triplicate. The pore size distribution of the material was determined using the adsorption isotherms obtained from the N_2 adsorption technique.

3.2.4 Scanning electron microscopy and X-ray energy dispersion analysis (EDAX)

Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) and EDAX analysis were carried out to study the surface microstructures of the CH particles and to obtain the elemental mapping on the surfaces of metal-adsorbed CH particles, respectively. A scanning electron microscope (Quanta 200 FEG, OR, USA) and EDAX analyzer (Oxford INCA Energy+, Cardiff, UK) were used in this study.

3.2.5 Surface charge characterization

The surface charge characterization of CH was done in terms of ξ potential as a function of pH. The pH of the solution was adjusted using 0.1 M HCl or 0.1 M NaOH. The experiment was conducted to determine the electrophoretic mobility of the CH particles at different pH values using a Zeta meter (Model 502, Nihon Rufuto, Japan). The ξ potential values were calculated at each and every pH using the Smoluchowski equation (Sze et al., 2003).

3.2.6 FT-IR analysis

The infrared spectra of RCH, HACH, and separately Cd²⁺⁻ and Pb²⁺⁻treated HACH were analyzed by Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FT-IR) (Nicolet 6700 USA series, USA). Transmission spectra were obtained between 400 and 4000 cm⁻¹, with 4 cm⁻¹ resolution and 128 scans. Sample pellets were prepared for FT-IR by mixing 20 mg of vacuum-dried samples (< 350 μ m) with FT-IR grade 100 mg of KBr. Each pellet contained approximately 70 mg of the above mixture. Spectral analyses were performed using OMNIC (version 7.3) software.

3.2.7 Effect of pH and background ion concentration on adsorption

Adsorption experiments were conducted for HACH at 0.01, 0.005, and 0.001 M $NaNO_3$ ionic strength levels. In order to avoid the effect of precipitation on adsorption, it was decided to use the values measured pH range from 4 to 8. At the

same time, the experiment was conducted using RCH at 0.001 M NaNO₃ concentration at the same pH range. The adsorbent concentration used was 2.5 g L⁻¹. The pH of solutions was adjusted using 0.1 M HNO₃ or 0.1 M NaOH, and 10 mL samples at each pH were withdrawn to polypropylene tubes and shaken in a water bath shaker for 24 h at 100 rpm (EYELA B603, Japan). After that, the samples were centrifuged (2500 rpm, 10 min), filtered with a membrane filter (Millipore 0.45 μ m, MA, USA) after measuring the final pH of the samples, and used in data analysis. The filtrate was acidified for analysis by flame atomic absorption spectrometry (GBC 933; NSW, Australia). The initial concentrations of Cd²⁺ and Pb²⁺ used were 20 and 100 mg L⁻¹, respectively.

3.2.8 Effect of initial metal ion concentration on adsorption

Batch adsorption experiments were carried out for 2.5 g L⁻¹ raw and modified coconut husk samples at pH ~7. Suspensions of RCH and HACH were stirred for 2 h at a speed of 300 rpm to hydrate the surfaces of the material. The 10 mL samples from each RCH and HACH suspension were transferred to capped polypropylene tubes. Initial Cd²⁺ and Pb²⁺ concentrations varied from 2.5 to 200 mg L⁻¹ and 25 to 200 mg L⁻¹, respectively. The ionic strength of the solutions was maintained at 0.001 M NaNO₃ concentration. Tubes were equilibrated for 24 h at 100 rpm in a water bath shaker. After that, the supernatant was centrifuged (2500 rpm, 10 min) and filtered for metal analysis. Detection of Cd²⁺ and Pb²⁺ were carried out using the flame method of an atomic adsorption spectrophotometer (AAS).

The data of Cd^{2+} and Pb^{2+} adsorption onto adsorbents was fitted to the Langmuir isotherm model [Eq. (3.1)] and Freundlich isotherm model [Eq. (3.2)] (Demirbas, 2008; Sarı et al., 2011; Bulgariu and Bulgariu, 2012; Cheng et al., 2012). The essential characteristic and feasibility of the Langmuir isotherm model, which is known as separation factor, R_L [Eq. (3.3)], was determined (Bansal et al., 2009; Rao and Khan, 2009). Model fitting was done using Origin 7 software (Origin Lab Corporation, USA).

$$q_e = \frac{q_m b C_e}{\left(1 + b C_e\right)} \tag{3.1}$$

$$q_e = K_f C_e^{\frac{1}{n}} \tag{3.2}$$

where,

 q_e = weight of metal ions adsorbed per gram of adsorbent at equilibrium (mg g⁻¹)

 $C_{\rm e}$ = equilibrium aqueous metal ion concentration (mg L⁻¹)

 q_m = maximum adsorption capacity (mg g⁻¹)

b = Langmuir constant related to the energy of adsorption (L mg⁻¹)

 K_f = adsorption capacity (mg g⁻¹)

n = adsorption intensity

$$R_L = \frac{1}{1 + bC_i} \tag{3.3}$$

Where,

 C_i = initial metal concentration (mg L⁻¹).

 R_L is a positive number, and the magnitude of R_L determines the feasibility of adsorption.

If, $R_L = 1$ – biosorption isotherm becomes linear,

 $R_L = 0.1 -$ favorable for biosorption,

 $R_L > 1$ – unfavorable for biosorption,

 $R_L = 0$ – biosorption is irreversible.

3.2.9 Effect of contact time on adsorption

In order to investigate the mechanism of adsorption of Cd^{2+} and Pb^{2+} onto HACH, the effect of contact time on adsorption was studied using a 2.5 g L⁻¹ suspension of HACH at pH~7. The ionic strength was maintained at 0.001 M NaNO₃ for all experiments. The suspensions of HACH were hydrated by stirring at 300 rpm for 3 h. Then, the suspension was spiked with the required amount of metal solutions to maintain the initial concentrations of 20 mg L⁻¹ and 100 mg L⁻¹ for Cd²⁺ and Pb²⁺, respectively. Samples of 10 mL were taken from the solution at known time intervals. After centrifugation, the supernatant was transferred by membrane filtration (0.45 µm) for metal analysis. Detections of Cd²⁺ and Pb²⁺ were carried out using the flame method of the AAS. The data from adsorption kinetic experiments were analyzed using pseudo-first order [Eqs. (3.4a) and (3.4b)] and pseudo-second order [Eq. (3.5)] models (Javed et al., 2007; Ofomaja and Ho, 2007; Jústiz-Smith et al., 2008). The pseudo-first order model assumes non-dissociating molecular adsorption while the pseudo-second order model assumes the chemisorptions of the adsorbate onto the adsorbent where exchange or sharing of electrons occurred between the adsorbate and active sites of the adsorbent (Rajapaksha et al., 2011).

$$\frac{dq_t}{dt} = k_1(q_e - q_t) \tag{3.4a}$$

$$\log(q_e - q_t) = \log q_e - \frac{k_1 t}{2.303}$$
(3.4b)

$$\frac{dq_t}{dt} = k_2 (q_e - q_t)^2 \tag{5}$$

Where,

 q_t = amount adsorbed per g of adsorbent at time t (mg g⁻¹)

 q_e = amount adsorbed per g of adsorbent at equilibrium (mg g⁻¹)

$$k_1$$
 = Lagergren rate constant (min⁻¹)

t = time (min)

 k_2 = pseudo-second order constant (g mg⁻¹ min⁻¹).

Further, the initial adsorption rate, $h \pmod{g^{-1} \min^{-1}}$ as $t \rightarrow 0$ can be defined as [Eq. (6)].

$$h = k_2 q_e^2 \tag{6}$$

The best fitting model was selected based on the correlation coefficient, fitting, and measured amount of metals adsorbed onto the HACH at the equilibrium.

3.2.10 Desorption experiments

Desorption experiments were conducted to study the effect of water on leaching of adsorbed metals from HACH. After the adsorption of metals in batch tests, the adsorbent was washed with distilled water twice, mixed with distilled water, and filtered in a Büchner funnel. Then, the adsorbent was shaken with 10 mL of distilled water at 300 rpm for 3 h. After that, suspension was filtered and analyzed for heavy metals using the flame method on the AAS.

3.2.11 Effect of competitive ion on adsorption

Adsorption experiments were conducted to study the effect of competitive ions on adsorption onto HACH as described by Sewwandi et al. (2012). The effect of Cd^{2+} on Pb^{2+} adsorption onto HACH and the effect of Pb^{2+} on Cd^{2+} adsorption onto HACH were studied. Initial concentrations of Cd^{2+} and Pb^{2+} used for the experiments were 20 and 100 mg L⁻¹, respectively. In addition, the effects of other ions commonly found in wastewater (Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} , SO_4^{2-} , and PO_4^{3-}) were studied. The concentrations of these ions were the same as those Sewwandi et al. (2012) used. Concentrations of anions and cations were selected based on World Health Organization standard values of the respective ion (Ramakrishnaiah et al., 2009).

3.3 **Results and Discussion**

3.3.1 Characterization of coconut husk

CH surface areas determined by the MB adsorption and N_2 adsorption techniques were 270.49 and 1.83 m² g⁻¹, respectively. The difference in experimental conditions used by the two methods could be the reason for the difference in surface area. The MB adsorption technique is performed under wet conditions, whereas the N_2 adsorption technique is performed on a dry sample, which is accomplished by heating and degassing the sample (Santamarina et al., 2002). Since the adsorbate can reach the interlayer surfaces under wet conditions, the surface area determined by the MB adsorption technique is higher than in the N_2 adsorption technique, in which gas cannot cover the interlayer surfaces. Similar variations from the two methods have been observed by Chen et al. (1999) for montmorillonite soil and Santamarina et al. (2002) for soils. In addition, the results from the N_2 adsorption showed that more than 60% of the total volume was occupied by <10 nm size pores.

Zeta potential analysis of RCH and HACH with pH shows that both materials were negatively charged in the pH range of 3-11(not shown). The ξ potential values varied from -8 to -12 mV within the pH range studied.

3.3.2 SEM and EDAX analysis

Scanning electron micrographs (SEM) of RCH and HACH are shown in Figures. 3.1a and 3.1b, respectively, with a magnification of x400. Surface texture and porosity can reveal the morphological features and surface characteristics of biosorbents. It is clear from the SEM images that both RCH and HACH have numerous voids with an

irregular structure and are rich in fine pores. Figures 3.2 and 3.3 showed the SEM images and SEM-EDAX spectrum of Cd²⁺- and Pb²⁺-adsorbed HACH, respectively. The SEM-EDAX spectra for Cd²⁺ and Pb²⁺ indicate the adsorption of the respective metal onto the active sites of HACH. Accordingly, the weight percentage of Cd²⁺ and Pb²⁺ adsorbed onto HACH are 1.3% and 4.36%, respectively.



Figure 3.1: Scanning electron micrograph of (a) RCH and (b) HACH



Figure 3.2: Scanning electron micrograph and SEM-EDAX spectrum of Cd2+ adsorbed HACH

3.3.3 FT-IR analysis

FT-IR spectrums of RCH, HACH, and Cd²⁺⁻ and Pb²⁺⁻adsorbed HACH are shown in Figure 3.4. Only slight differences were observed between RCH and HACH. The characteristic peak at around 1637 cm⁻¹ can be observed as the -OH bending of adsorbed water and -OH groups (Oh, 2005). The bands observed at 1514 cm⁻¹ are due to C=C stretching vibrations of aromatic bonds (Makehelwala et al., 2009). Peaks at 1525-1460 cm⁻¹ can be assigned to -CH₃ and -CH₂ deformations (Pretsch, 1989). Symmetric stretching vibrations at around 1412 cm⁻¹ are assigned to -COO⁻ groups (Kitadai et al., 2009). The C-H deformation vibration and O-H deformation modes of alcohol and phenolic groups of cellulose appeared around 1375 cm⁻¹ (Pretsch, 1989).



Figure 3.3: Scanning electron micrograph and SEM-EDAX spectrum of Pb²⁺ adsorbed HACH

Disappearance of C-H deformation vibration and O-H deformation modes of alcohol and phenolic groups of cellulose at 1375 cm⁻¹ (Pretsch, 1989) were observed in HACH. Bands between 1250–1550 cm⁻¹ shifted to low wave numbers after humic acid treatment. However, several changes in IR spectra can be identified between HACH before and after metal adsorption. The board band intensity at around 1730 cm⁻¹, which is assigned to stretching modes of the carbonyl (C=O) bond in the -COOH groups (Anirudhan et al., 2010), has shifted to low wave numbers after both Cd²⁺ and Pb²⁺ adsorption (Figure 3.4).



Figure 3.4: FT-IR spectra of RCH, HACH, and Cd²⁺ and Pb²⁺ adsorbed HACH The wave numbers that have been shifted to lower values in C=O stretching for metal-adsorbed HACH strongly indicate that the interaction between -COOH groups

and metal ions. Therefore, this results suggest that the adsorption of metal ions to - COOH groups through the C-O-M bond ($M = Cd^{2+}$ or Pb^{2+}) via monodentate adsorption (Hug and Bahnemann, 2006).

3.3.4 Effect of pH and ionic strength on adsorption

The adsorption process is affected by pH because it affects the surface charge of the adsorbent, species of adsorbate, and the degree of ionization (Naiya et al., 2009a). The variations of Cd²⁺ and Pb²⁺ adsorption onto HACH with final pH at different ionic strength levels are given in Figure 3.5. According to it, the adsorption process is independent of the pH range studied in this study. Because of the reactions that have taken place in the adsorption of metal ions to the adsorbent, the pH of the solution is changed. However, Naiya et al. (2009a) found that when the pH of the solution is higher (pH > 6), total Pb²⁺ removal is increased due to the formation of Pb(OH)₂ precipitate, though there is a decrease in adsorption.

The mechanism of adsorption of metals onto the biosorbents can be determined by examining the ionic strength dependency of the process. Thus, if the adsorption process shows an ionic strength dependency, the mechanism of adsorption is binding to the outer sphere of surface complexes. In contrast, in the inner sphere bonding mechanism, the effect of ionic strength on adsorption is not observed (Bansal et al., 2009; Tang et al., 2009). The results shown in Figure 3.5 indicate that adsorption of Cd²⁺ and Pb²⁺ onto CH shows no dependence on ionic strength of the solution, which indicates that an inner sphere bonding mechanism is involved in adsorption. Since the adsorption capacities are independent of ionic strength of the solutions, 0.001 M NaNO₃ was used in later experiments.



Figure 3.5: Variation of Cd²⁺ and Pb²⁺ adsorption with pH and ionic strength

3.3.5 Effect of initial metal concentration on adsorption

Langmuir and Freundlich isotherm models were used to analyze the data. Langmuir isotherm model fitting curves for the data obtained along with the fitted equation from the isotherm experiments are given in Fig. 6. Adsorption of Cd^{2+} onto RCH was higher than HACH up to the initial concentration of ~100 mg L⁻¹ (equilibrium concentration~10 mg L⁻¹), and after that the reverse occurred (Figure 3.6a). The Pb²⁺ adsorption was significantly higher onto HACH than onto RCH for the entire range of the initial concentration (Figure 3.6b). Adsorption of both Cd^{2+} and Pb^{2+} was well fitted to the Langmuir isotherm model, which indicates that monolayer adsorption is predominant. In monolayer adsorption, metal ions are adsorbed onto the homogenous surfaces of the adsorbent without interaction between adsorbed molecules (Sarı et al., 2011; Cheng et al., 2012). Langmuir model fitting parameters are shown in Table 3.1. Higher correlation coefficient values may indicate that the heavy metal ions utilize their single molecular forms to adsorb metal ions onto both RCH and HACH within the concentration range used in this study (Rao and Khan, 2009; Sarı et al., 2011; Cheng et al., 2012).

The adsorption capacities of Cd²⁺ and Pb²⁺ onto HACH were 47 and 66 mg g⁻¹, and those onto RCH were 24 and 21 mg g⁻¹, respectively. The higher adsorption of Pb²⁺ than Cd²⁺ by HACH is clearly shown by SEM-EDAX elemental mapping (Figures 3.2 and 3.3). Similar results were observed by Chen et al. (2012), and they found that the smaller hydration radius, low free energy of hydration, and higher reactivity of Pb²⁺ than Cd²⁺ were the reasons for higher adsorption of Pb²⁺ than Cd²⁺.



Table 3.1: Langmuir adsorption parameters for adsorption of Cd²⁺ and Pb²⁺

Figure 3.6: Langmuir isotherm model fitted curves

The R_L values respective to the maximum adsorptions of Cd²⁺ and Pb²⁺ given in Table 3.1 indicate that the adsorption of Cd²⁺ and Pb²⁺ onto CH is favorable and that the metal ion binding to the surfaces of CH is strong. Moreover, the values of R_L became very close to zero, indicating that the process was closer to the irreversible adsorption (El-Shafey, 2007). However, isotherm data was not fitted to the Freundlich isotherm model (data not shown).

3.3.6 Effect of contact time on adsorption

Table 3.2 shows pseudo-first order kinetic parameters and correlation coefficient values obtained from the plot of log (q_e-q_t) with time. The correlation coefficient values and/or measured and fitted values of equilibrium adsorption capacities are not correlated, indicating that the kinetic data do not fit the pseudo-first order model. Therefore, the rate of occupation of biosorption sites is not likely to be proportional to the number of occupied sites (Najim et al., 2009; Vinodhini and Das, 2010).

On the other hand, adsorption kinetic data was well fitted to the pseudo-second order model (Table 3.3). This suggests that the rate-limiting factor in adsorption of

Cd²⁺ and Pb²⁺ onto HACH is a chemical sorption that involves valence forces through sharing or exchange of electrons between metal ions and the functional groups of HACH, as shown in previous studies (Ho and McKay, 1999; Naiya et al., 2009b; Najim et al., 2009). As indicated by the reaction rate constant values, Cd²⁺ adsorption onto HACH reached in equilibrium faster than Pb²⁺ adsorption.

3.3.7 Desorption experiment

Desorption studies were conducted to study the regeneration of used biomaterials for repeated biosorption. The results of the experiments showed that desorption of the metals adsorbed onto CH is very low (not detectable) in the pH range studied with water. Therefore, this confirms that the main process of adsorption is a chemisorption process (Kavitha and Namasivayam, 2007).

Table 3.2: Pseudo first order kinetic model parameters and correlation coefficient values for adsorption of Cd^{2+} and Pb^{2+} onto HACH

Metal	<i>q</i> _e , measured <i>q</i> _e , fitted		k_1	r^2
	$(mg g^{-1})$	(<i>mg g-1</i>)	(<i>min</i> -1)	
Cd ²⁺	7.88	4.31	0.059	0.91
Pb^{2+}	38.5	0.362	0.002	0.14

Table 3.3: Pseudo second order kinetic model parameters and correlation coefficient values for adsorption of Cd^{2+} and Pb^{2+} onto HACH

Metal	q_{e} , measured	k_2	h	r^2
	$(mg g^{-1})$	(g mg ⁻¹ min ⁻¹)	(mg g ^{_1} min ^{_1})	
Cd^{2+}	7.93	3.17	200	0.99
Pb^{2+}	38.46	0.056	83.3	0.99

3.3.8 Effect of competitive ions on adsorption

Figures 3.7a and 3.7b show the adsorption variations of Cd^{2+} and Pb^{2+} in the presence of different concentrations of the other metal ion, respectively. As shown in Figure 3.7a, almost 100% adsorption of Cd^{2+} was observed when there was no Pb^{2+} in the solution. However, when the Pb^{2+} concentration in the aqueous solution increased, the adsorption of Cd^{2+} decreased drastically. Similarly, 96% removal of Pb^{2+} was observed when there was no Cd^{2+} present in the aqueous solution. Removal of Pb^{2+} decreased from 95% to 80% when the Cd^{2+} concentration was the same as the

 Pb^{2+} concentration in the solution. However, a further increase in Cd^{2+} in the solution did not affect further reduction of Pb^{2+} removal from the aqueous solution.



Figure 3.7: (a) Cd²⁺ and (b) Pb²⁺ adsorption variation in binary metal solutions

Competitive adsorption of metal ions could be due to the differences in radius of the hydrated ions, free energy of adsorption, and activity of metal ions (Cheng et al., 2012). Srivastava et al. (2009) studied the competitive adsorption of Cd^{2+} and Ni^{2+} onto rice husk ash (RHA) and found that the affinity of RHA for Ni^{2+} is greater than that of Cd^{2+} in binary metal mixtures. The competitive effects of different metals on adsorption of other metals are different (Qin et al., 2006). Qin et al. (2006) studied the mechanisms of competitive adsorption of Cd^{2+} , Pb^{2+} , and Cu^{2+} onto peat and found that the competitive adsorption of Cd^{2+} , Pb^{2+} , and Cu^{2+} onto peat and found that the competitive adsorptions of the studied metals are in the order of $Pb^{2+} > Cu^{2+} > Cd^{2+}$, similar to the results observed in the present study.

The impact of cations (Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+}) and anions (SO_4^{2-} and $PO4^{3-}$) on the adsorption of Cd^{2+} and Pb^{2+} when their availability in the environment was higher and their effect on the adsorption of metals onto adsorbents were studied. The results of the experiment are shown in Table 3.4. Adsorption of Cd^{2+} onto HACH was decreased in the presence of Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} ions in the aqueous solution. It was observed that the adsorption of Cd^{2+} was decreased from 86% to 21% when the Ca^{2+} concentration in the solution increased from 10 to 75 mg L⁻¹. Moreover, Cd^{2+} adsorption was decreased from 76% to 24% when the Mg^{2+} ions are present in the aqueous solution (Table 3.4). However, only a few changes in the adsorption of Pb^{2+} were observed at the presence of Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} .

Neither Cd^{2+} nor Pb^{2+} adsorption was affected much by the availability of SO_4^{2-} in the solution. Similarly, Cd^{2+} adsorption did not show a change due to PO_4^{3-} ions in the solution, whereas Pb^{2+} adsorption was affected by PO_4^{3-} ions. Thus, removal of Pb^{2+} decreased from 89% to 9% when the PO_4^{3-} concentration increased from 1 to 10 mg L⁻¹. The differences in the adsorption of the two metals by HACH could be due to differences in the chemistry of Cd^{2+} and Pb^{2+} ions. Wang and Xing (2002) found that presence of phosphate enhanced the Cd^{2+} adsorption process. Both Cd^{2+} and Pb^{2+} ions forms complexes with phosphate, and the forms of the complexes are different and their solubility is also different in aqueous solution (Ayati and Lundager Madsen, 2000). Therefore, it shows the importance of using a pre-treatment to remove inorganic contaminants that can affect the adsorption of heavy metals in wastewater.

Ion addad	Concentration of	% adsorption		
Ion audeu	ion (mg L-1)	Cd ²⁺	Pb ²⁺	
	10	85.7	89.8	
Ca^{2+}	25	61.5	85.5	
Ca ²	50	34.4	80.0	
	75	21.4	73.4	
Mg ²⁺	25	75.9	95.8	
	50	51.5	89.0	
	75	31.5	82.9	
	100	29.8	80.3	
	125	23.9	76.2	
	50	97.7	96.9	
SO (2-	100	95.5	90.8	
504	250	94.9	80.9	
	400	84.4	84.8	
	1.0	99.7	88.8	
	2.5	91.8	64.0	
104°	5.0	99.0	33.6	
	10.0	98.8	8.8	

Table 3.4: Adsorption of Cd²⁺ and Pb²⁺ in the presence of anions and cations

3.3.9 Comparison of Cd²⁺ and Pb²⁺ adsorption onto biosorbents

The Cd^{2+} and/or Pb^{2+} adsorption capacities of HACH with the other biosorbents in batch experiments are compared in Table 3.5. The adsorption capacity of raw

coconut husk is similar to most of the biosorbents that other researchers studied (Table 3.5). However, humic acid-treated coconut husk shows higher adsorption capacity than untreated biosorbents. Similar results were obtained by Igwe and Abia (2007) and Wong et al. (2003) for modified maize husk and rice husk, respectively.

Max.								
Adsorbent	adsorpti	on (mg g-1)	Reference					
	Cd ²⁺	Pb ²⁺						
RCH	24.24	21.21	Present study					
HACH	47.28	66.06	Present study					
Grape bagasse	53.84	42.27	Farinella et al., 2007					
Neem oil cake	11.80	-	Rao and Khan, 2009					
Sawdust of deciduous	3.50	-	Božić et al., 2009					
trees								
Sugar beet pulp	0.13	0.37	Pehlivan et al., 2008					
Rose waste biomass	-	151.15	Javed et al., 2007					
Green algae waste	39.20	74.30	Bulguriu and Bulguriu,					
biomass			2012					
Lemon peel	52.20	180.00	Arslanoglu et al., 2009					
Tea waste	-	65.00	Amarasingha and					
			Williams, 2007					
Coconut copra meal	4.92	-	Ho and Ofomaja, 2006					
Rice husk ash	-	91.74	Naiya et al., 2009b					
Rice husk (tartaric		108.0	Wong et al., 2003					
acid modified)								
Maize husk	-151.5	-217.4	Igwe and Abia, 2007					
(unmodified)			0					
Maize husk (EDTA	833.3	714.3	Igwe and Abia, 2007					
modified)			0					
Zeo;ite	1.2	55	Hamidneyn at al 2010					
Bentonite	5.1	63	Frainupour et al., 2010					

Table 3.	. 5: Co	mnarison	of adsorp	tion ca	pacity o	f HACH	with a	other	adsorbents
Lanc Va		Inparison	or ausorp	uon ca	pacity 0		VVILII V		ausointins

3.4 Conclusions

The results of this study indicate that HACH can be used effectively for removal of Cd²⁺ and Pb²⁺ from single-metal ion solutions and that adsorption could be retarded by the presence of co-existing metal ions and other cations and anions. Adsorption of Cd²⁺ and Pb²⁺ ions onto HACH is independent of the pH and ionic strength used in this study. Adsorption by HACH is higher than RCH of Cd²⁺ and Pb²⁺ over the range of initial concentrations studied and shows a monolayer adsorption onto the adsorbent. The maximum adsorption capacities of Cd²⁺ and Pb²⁺ onto HACH were 47.28 and 66.26 mg g⁻¹, respectively, and 24.24 and 21.21 mg g⁻¹, respectively, for

RCH. The metal ion adsorption process by CH tends more towards an irreversible process that is endothermic in nature. Moreover, the Cd^{2+} and Pb^{2+} adsorption mechanism of CH involves the formation of inner-sphere complexes by metal ions with the active sites of CH. Since the adsorption process is irreversible, regeneration of the biomaterial with water is difficult, and therefore desorption methods with chemical solutions need to be studied.

Adsorption of Cd^{2+} and Pb^{2+} onto HACH is a chemical sorption in which Pb^{2+} adsorption needs a longer reaction time while Cd^{2+} adsorption reaches equilibrium faster. The adsorption reaction rates of Cd^{2+} and Pb^{2+} onto HACH are 0.056 and 3.17 mg g⁻¹ min⁻¹, respectively. The presence of several anions and cations affected the adsorption of Cd^{2+} and Pb^{2+} by HACH, and therefore it is important to have a pretreatment unit to remove other ions and suspended solids in wastewater when HACH is used for actual wastewater treatment.

Supporting papers

Sewwandi, B. G. N., Meththika Vithanage, S.S.R.M.D.H.R. Wijesekara, M.I.M. Mowjood, Shoichiro Hamamoto and Ken Kawamoto. 2014. Adsorption of Cd(II) and Pb(II) onto Humic Acid Treated Coconut (*Cocos nucifera*) Husk. *J. Hazard. Toxic Radioact. Waste*, 18 (2): 1-10. DOI: 10.1061/(ASCE)HZ.2153-5515.0000196.
References

- Abad, M., Noguera, P., Puchades, R., Maquieira, A., and Noguera, V. (2002).
 "Physico-chemical and chemical properties of some coconut coir dusts for use as a peat substitute for containerised ornamental plants". *Bioresour. Technol.* 82(3), 241-245.
- Amakrone, A., Comel, C., and Veron, J. (1997). "Landfill leachate pretreatment by coagulation-flocculation". *Water Res.* 31(11), 2775-2782.
- Amarasinghe, B. M. W. P. K. and Williams, R. A. (2007). "Tea waste as a low cost adsorbent for the removal of Cu and Pb from wastewater". *Chem. Eng. J.* 132, 299-309.
- Anirudhan, T. S., Divya, L., and Rijith, S. (2010). "Adsorption characteristics of cadmium(II) onto functionalized poly(hydroxyethylmethacrylate)-grafted coconut coir pith". *Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol.* 85, 42-47.
- Arslanoglu, H., Altundogan, H. S., and Tumen, F. (2009). "Heavy metals binding properties of esterified lemon". *J. Hazard. Mater.* 164(2–3), 1406-1413.
- Ayati, M., and Lundager Madsen, H. E. (2000). "Crystallization of some heavy-metal phosphates alone and in the presence of calcium ion". *Journal of Crystal Growth*. 208(1–4), 579-591.
- Bansal, M., Garg, U., Singh, D., and Garg, V. K. (2009). "Removal of Cr(VI) from aqueous solutions using pre-consumer processing agricultural waste: A case study of rice husk". *J. Hazard. Mater.* 162(1), 312-320.
- Belkacem, M., Khodir, M., and Abdelkrim, S. (2008). "Treatment characteristics of textile wastewater and removal of heavy metals using the electroflotation technique". *Desalination*. 228(1–3), 245-254.
- Božić, D., Stanković, V., Gorgievski, M., Bogdanović, G., and Kovačević, R. (2009).
 "Adsorption of heavy metal ions by sawdust of deciduous trees". *J. Hazard. Mater.* 171(1–3), 684-692.
- Bulgariu, D., and Bulgariu, L. (2012). "Equilibrium and kinetics studies of heavy metal ions biosorption on green algae waste biomass". *Bioresour. Technol.* 103(1), 489-493.

- Chen, G., Pan, J., Han, B., and Yan, H. (1999). "Adsorption of methylene blue on montmorillonite". *Journal of Dispersion Science and Technology*. 20(4), 1179-1187.
- Cheng, T. W., Lee, M. L., Ko, M. S., Ueng, T. H., and Yang, S. F. (2012). "The heavy metal adsorption characteristics on metakaolin-based geopolymer". *Applied Clay Science*. 56(1), 90-96.
- Coles, C. A., and Yong, R. N. (2006). "Humic acid preparation, properties and interactions with metals lead and cadmium". *Engineering Geology*. 85(1–2), 26-32.
- Dabrowski, A., Hubicki, Z., Podkościelny, P., and Robens, E. (2004). "Selective removal of the heavy metal ions from waters and industrial wastewaters by ion-exchange method". *Chemosphere*. 56(2), 91-106.
- Demirbas, A. (2008). "Heavy metal adsorption onto agro-based waste materials: A review". *J. Hazard. Mater.* 157(2–3), 220-229.
- El-Shafey, E. I. (2007). "Removal of Se(IV) from aqueous solution using sulphuric acid-treated peanut shell". *J. Environ. Manage.* 84(4), 620-627.
- Farinella, N. V., Matos, G. D., and Arruda, M. A. Z. (2007). "Grape bagasse as a potential biosorbent of metals in effluent treatments". *Bioresour. Technol.* 98(10), 1940-1946.
- Fu, F., Xie, L., Tang, B., Wang, Q., and Jiang, S. (2012). "Application of a novel strategy—Advanced Fenton-chemical precipitation to the treatment of strong stability chelated heavy metal containing wastewater". *Chem. Eng. J.* 189– 190(0), 283-287.
- Gode, F., Atalay, E. D., and Pehlivan, E. (2008). "Removal of Cr(VI) from aqueous solutions using modified red pine sawdust". J. Hazard. Mater. 152(3), 1201-1207.
- Ho, Y. S., and McKay, G. (1999). "Pseudo-second order model for sorption processes". *Process Biochem.* 34 (1), 451-465.
- Ho, Y.-S., and Ofomaja, A. E. (2006). "Biosorption thermodynamics of cadmium on coconut copra meal as biosorbent". *Biochem. Eng. J.* 30(2), 117-123.

- Hug, S.J., and Bahnemann, D. (2006). "Infrared spectra of oxalate, malonate and succinate adsorbed on the aqueous surface of rutile, anatase and lepidocrocite measured with in situ ATR-FTIR". *Journal of Electron Spectroscopy and Related Phenomena*. 150, 208–219.
- Igwe, J. C., and Abia, A. A. (2007). "Equilibrium sorption isotherm studies of Cd(II), Pb(II) and Zn(II) ions detoxification from wastewater using unmodified and EDTA-modified maize husk". *Electronic Journal of Biotechnology*. 10, 536-548.
- Javed, M. A., Bhatti, H. N., Hanif, M. A., and Nadeem, R. (2007). "Kinetic and equilibrium modeling of Pb(II) and Co(II) sorption onto rose waste biomass". *Separation Science and Technology*. 42(16), 3641-3656.
- Jústiz-Smith, N. G., Virgo, G. J., and Buchanan, V. E. (2008). "Potential of Jamaican banana, coconut coir and bagasse fibres as composite materials". *Materials Characterization*. 59(9), 1273-1278.
- Kavitha, D., and Namasivayam, C. (2007). "Experimental and kinetic studies on methylene blue adsorption by coir pith carbon". *Bioresour. Technol.* 98(1), 14-21.
- Kitadai, N, Yokoyama, T and Nakashima S. (2009). ATR-IR spectroscopic study of L-lysine adsorption on amorphous silica. *J. Colloid Interface Sci.* 329, 31–37.
- Kornboonraksa, T., Lee, H. S., Lee, S. H., and Chiemchaisri, C. (2009). "Application of chemical precipitation and membrane bioreactor hybrid process for piggery wastewater treatment". *Bioresour. Technol.* 100(6), 1963-1968.
- Lesmana, S. O., Febriana, N., Soetaredjo, F. E., Sunarso, J., and Ismadji, S. (2009). "Studies on potential applications of biomass for the separation of heavy metals from water and wastewater". *Biochem. Eng. J.* 44(1), 19-41.
- Liu, Y., Sun, X., and Li, B. (2010). "Adsorption of Hg²⁺ and Cd²⁺ by ethylenediamine modified peanut shells". *Carbohydrate Polymers*. 81(2), 335-339.
- Lubal, P., Široký, D., Fetsch, D., and Havel, J. (1998). "The acidobasic and complexation properties of humic acids: Study of complexation of Czech humic acids with metal ions". *Talanta*. 47(2), 401-412.

- Mahmoud, M. E., Hafez, O. F., Alrefaay, A., and Osman, M. M. (2010). "Performance evaluation of hybrid inorganic/organic adsorbents in removal and preconcentration of heavy metals from drinking and industrial waste water". *Desalination*. 253(1–3), 9-15.
- Makehelwala, M., Jinadasa, K. B. S. N., Tanaka, N., Weerasoriya, R., and Bandara, A. (2009). "Adsorption mechanism of Cr(VI) onto coir pith". *Bioremediation J.* 13(4), 188-197.
- Mavrov, V., Erwe, T., Blöcher, C., and Chmiel, H. (2003). "Study of new integrated processes combining adsorption, membrane separation and flotation for heavy metal removal from wastewater". *Desalination*. 157(1–3), 97-104.
- Naiya, T. K., Bhattacharya, A. K., and Das, S. K. (2009a). "Clarified sludge (basic oxygen furnace sludge) – an adsorbent for removal of Pb(II) from aqueous solutions – kinetics, thermodynamics and desorption studies". J. Hazard. Mater. 170(1), 252-262.
- Naiya, T. K., Bhattacharya, A. K., Mandal, S. N., and Das, S. K. (2009b). "The sorption of Pb(II) ions on rice husk ash". *J. Hazard. Mater.* 163(1254-1264).
- Najim, T. S., Elais, N. J., and Dawood, A. A. (2009). "Adsorption of copper and iron using low cost material as adsorbent". *E-Journal of Chemistry*. 6(161-168.
- Nam, T. H., Ogihara, S., Tung, N. H., and Kobayashi, S. (2011). "Effect of alkali treatment on interfacial and mechanical properties of coir fiber reinforced poly(butylene succinate) biodegradable composites". *Composites Part B: Engineering*. 42(6), 1648-1656.
- Namasivayam, C., and Sangeetha, D. (2004). "Equilibrium and kinetic studies of adsorption of phosphate onto ZnCl2 activated coir pith carbon". *J. Colloid Interface Sci.* 280(2), 359-365.
- Ofomaja, A. E., and Ho, Y.-S. (2007). "Effect of pH on cadmium biosorption by coconut copra meal". *J. Hazard. Mater.* 139(2), 356-362.
- Pagnanelli, F., Trifoni, M., Beolchini, F., Esposito, A., Toro, L., and Vegliò, F. (2001).
 "Equilibrium biosorption studies in single and multi-metal systems". *Process Biochem.* 37(2), 115-124.

- Parab, H., Joshi, S., Shenoy, N., Lali, A., Sarma, U. S., and Sudersanan, M. (2006).
 "Determination of kinetic and equilibrium parameters of the batch adsorption of Co(II), Cr(III) and Ni(II) onto coir pith". *Process Biochem.* 41(3), 609-615.
- Pehlivan, E., Yanık, B. H., Ahmetli, G., and Pehlivan, M. (2008). "Equilibrium isotherm studies for the uptake of cadmium and lead ions onto sugar beet pulp". *Bioresour. Technol.* 99(9), 3520-3527.
- Pretsch, E., Clerc., T., Seibl, J., and Simon, W. (1989). "Tables of spectral data for structure determination of organic compounds". 2nd ed., I165. Berlin: Springer-Verlag. pp. 150–185.
- Qin, F., Wen, B., Shan, X.-Q., Xie, Y.-N., Liu, T., Zhang, S.-Z., and Khan, S. U. (2006). "Mechanisms of competitive adsorption of Pb, Cu, and Cd on peat". *Environ. Pollut.* 144(2), 669-680.
- Raghu, S., and Ahmed Basha, C. (2007). "Chemical or electrochemical techniques, followed by ion exchange, for recycle of textile dye wastewater". *J. Hazard. Mater.* 149(2), 324-330.
- Rajapaksha, A. U., Vithanage, M., Jayarathna, L., and Kumara, C. K. (2011). "Natural Red Earth as a low cost material for arsenic removal: Kinetics and the effect of competing ions". *Appl. Geochem.* 26(4), 648-654.
- Ramakrishnaiah, C. R., Sadashivaiah, C., and Ranganna, G. (2009). "Assessment of water quality index for the groundwater in Tumkur Taluk, Karnataka State, India". *E-Journal of Chemistry*. 6(2), 523-530.
- Rao, R. A. K., and Khan, M. A. (2009). "Biosorption of bivalent metal ions from aqueous solution by an agricultural waste: kinetics, thermodynamics and environmental effects". *Colloids Surf. Physicochem. Eng. Aspects.* 222(1), 121-128.
- Santamarina, J. C., Klein, K. A., Wang, Y. H., and Prencke, E. (2002). "Specific surface: determination and relevance". *Can. Geotech. J.* 39(1), 233-241.
- Sari, A., Uluozlü, Ö. D., and Tüzen, M. (2011). "Equilibrium, thermodynamic and kinetic investigations on biosorption of arsenic from aqueous solution by algae (*Maugeotia genuflexa*) biomass". *Chem. Eng. J.* 167(1), 155-161. *Is the* 1 *in* Sarı *correct?*

- Sewwandi, B. G. N., Vithanage, M., Wijesekara, S. S. R. M. D. H. R., Rajapaksha, A. U., Jayarathna, D. G. L. M., and Mowjood, M. I. M. (2012). "Characterization of aqueous Pb(II) and Cd(II) biosorption on native and chemically modified *Alstonia macrophylla* saw dust". *Bioremediation J.* 16(2), 113-124.
- Srivastava, V. C., Mall, I. D., and Mishra, I. M. (2009). "Competitive adsorption of cadmium(II) and nickel(II) metal ions from aqueous solution onto rice husk ash". *Chemical Engineering and Processing: Process Intensification*. 48(1), 370-379.
- Sze, A., Erickson, D., Ren, L., and Li, D. (2003). "Zeta-potential measurement using the Smoluchowski equation and the slope of the current–time relationship in electroosmotic flow". *J. Colloid Interface Sci.* 261(2), 402-410.
- Tang, Y., Guan, X., Wang, J., Gao, N., McPhail, M. R., and Chusuei, C. C. (2009).
 "Fluoride adsorption onto granular ferric hydroxide: Effects of ionic strength, pH, surface loading, and major co-existing anions". *J. Hazard. Mater.* 171(1–3), 774-779.
- Vinodhini, V., and Das, N. (2010). "Relevant approach to assess the performance of sawdust as adsorbent of chromium (VI) ions from aqueous solutions". *International Journal of Environmental Science and Technology*. 7(1), 85-92.
- Wang, K., and Xing, B. (2002). "Adsorption and desorption of cadmium by goethite pretreated with phosphate". *Chemosphere*. 48(7), 665-670.
- Wong, K. K., Lee, C. K., Low, K. S., and Haron, M. J. (2003). "Removal of Cu and Pb by tartaric acid modified rice husk from aqueous solutions". *Chemosphere*. 50(1), 23-28.
- Xu, D., Tan, X. L., Chen, C. L., and Wang, X. K. (2008). "Adsorption of Pb(II) from aqueous solution to MX-80 bentonite: Effect of pH, ionic strength, foreign ions and temperature". *Applied Clay Science*. 41(1–2), 37-46.

Chapter 4 CHARACTERIZATION OF SOILS OF SRI LANKA TO BE USED AS A REACTIVE MATERIAL IN PERMEABLE REACTIVE BARRIER

Abstract

Exploration of locally available filter materials to use as a reactive media for permeable reactive barriers to be installed in municipal solid wastes dumpsites is important as they provide an inexpensive treatment method. A study was carried out to characterize soils of Sri Lanka aiming selection of suitable soils as a reactive media. Seven soils were sampled from different locations of Sri Lanka and analyzed for surface area, particle density, C/N ratio, mineral composition by XRD and particle size distribution by standard methods. Surface area of Anuradhapura, Ukuwela and Bangadeniya are 35, 31 and 28 m² g⁻¹, respectively, which are higher than the other soils. Most of the soils are categorized to the taxonomic group of sandy loam while soils from Ukuwela and Maharagama classified as Clay soils. Sandy clay loamy texture is shown by the soils of Katugastota and Bangadeniya. Highest C/N and SOM result from soils of Ukuwela followed by Iranamadu and Maharagama. Montmorillonite, Kaolinite and halloysite are the main minerals of studied soils. Three soils seems to be suitable for PRB applications based on physicochemical characteristics and further studies are needed to study the pollutant removal behavior of soils.

4.1 Introduction

Soil and groundwater contamination by leachate originating from the nearby landfill sites has become a global environmental issue at present (Mor et al., 2006; Nagarajan et al., 2012). The main solid waste management techniques practiced in Sri Lanka is dumping of collected solid wastes in nearby open dumpsites regardless of its origin or hazardous nature. Therefore, there is a high risk of contaminating soil and water resources in nearby areas. However, the treatment of contaminated soil and water sources by conventional methods such as pump and treat method cannot be used due to financial, technical and social issues. Thus, investigation of new and innovative technologies which are site specific at low cost would be the best solution to manage this burning issue.

Permeable reactive barrier (PRB) is a new technology which uses a wide variety of reactive materials to remove different contaminants from polluted water. It is used as

a sub-surface structure across the contaminant plume. Activated carbon, zero valent iron, bentonite, soil-bentonite mixture are some of reactive materials used. The selection of a particular reactive material for a PRB depends on several factors i.e. reactivity, stability, availability and cost, environmental compatibility, hydraulic performance and safety.

Zeolites have been used as a reactive material in a PRB under a coastal refinery to remove petroleum hydrocarbons and gasoline additives and found that zeolites are more suitable for adsorption of light hydrocarbons (Vignola et al., 2011). Another study has been carried out by McMahon et al., (1999) using zero valent Fe to remove chlorinated aliphatic hydrocarbons (CAH) in a funnel-and-gate PRB system. The resuls of the study showed that effective removal of CAH can be achieved by zero valent Fe.

Di Natale et al., (2008) have studied the activated carbon for Cd removal in a laboratory study. The results of the study have been analyzed by a 2D numerical model and the model has been applied to a case study. The model simulation showed that activated C has a long term efficiency to prevent river pollution.

Han et al., (2011) have conducted a study on natural silica sand coated with FeS to remove As(III) under anoxic conditions. The study focuses on development of a material by coating natural silica sand with FeS. They have concluded that FeS coated silica sand with iron oxide coating is suitable for removing As(III) under anoxic conditions.

Organic carbon based PRB has been used to treat heavy metals by sulphate reduction and metal sulphide precipitation in a contaminated groundwater plume (Ludwig et al., 2002). The finding of the study is that the organic C barrier is effective in treating groundwater contaminated by dissolved metals. Gibert et al., (2008) have found that some organic substrates (softwood) is applicable for PRB filling from a study conducted on natural organic substrates to remove nitrate nitrogen.

It is common to use reactive materials with chemical in nature for PRB installations to remediate contaminated groundwater. However, the use of these materials is limited in developing countries due to high cost of these materials, need special care to handle and lack of know-how of using these materials. Therefore, it is useful to find out possible reactive materials that are locally available at low cost to be used in PRBs to treat leachate generated from open dumpsites in Sri Lanka.

Sri Lanka is a country where different types of soils are available with a unique soil profile. The predominant soil in a particular area depends on climate, parent material, plants and animals, slope or topography of the land, and to time needed for soil formation. Figure 4.1 shows the distribution of great soil groups of Sri Lanka.

Some studies have been carried out to characterize soils for some elements' availability (Loganathan et al., 1982), to study the spatial variability of soil properties (Nayanaka et al., 2010), to study the occurrence of organo-mineral complexes in relation to clay mineralogy (*Indraratne*, 2005). However, limited attention has been given to the soils' ability to remove heavy metals and to be used as a reactive material in PRB. Therefore, this study aims to characterize physico-chemical properties of soils of Sri Lanka and to find out soils that are suitable to be used in PRBs as a reactive material to remove heavy metals.

4.2 Materials and Methods

4.2.1 Sampling of soils in Sri Lanka

Seven soil types (great soil groups) were selected from six soil orders (USDA soil classification) based on climatic zone, availability of a soil in an area and the distribution of soils. Table 4.1 shows the soil order, great soil group, location and the climatic zone for each sampled soil. The collected soils are the predominant soil type available in the particular area. As given in Table 4.1, soils were collected from all climatic zones of Sri Lanka so that it represents the major soils in each zone. Figure 4.1 shows the distribution of great soil groups in Sri Lanka.

The selected soils were sampled at a depth of 0-20 cm depth and transported to the laboratory for the analysis of physical and chemical properties. Figure 4.2 shows a photograph of the collected soil samples after air drying.



Figure 4.1: Distribution of great soil groups in Sri Lanka

(Source:http://eusoils.jrc.ec.europa.eu/esdb_archive/eudasm/asia/maps/LK3000_ SO.htm)

4.2.3 Analysis of soil

Collected soil samples were transported to the laboratory and air dried for the analysis. The analyzed parameters and the standard analytical methods used are presented in Table 4.2. Organic composition was determined by measuring C, H and N content of soils by CHN analyzer. Soil organic matter content were estimated from soil organic C and soil organic N content.

Soil samples were tested for mineralogical compositions and elemental compositions by X-Ray Diffraction (XRD-7000, Shimadzu Corp., Japan) and energy dispersive X-Ray Fluorescence (EDX-700HS2, Shimadzu Corp., Japan) techniques, respectively after removing organic matter by hydrogen peroxide method. Dry and wet sieving methods were performed to determine the clay content of soils.

Soil sample	Soil order	Soil type	Climatic
		(Great soil group)	zone
Anuradhapura	Alfisols	Reddish brown earth	DZ
Maharagama	Ultisols	Reddish brown latasolic	WZ
Ukuwela		Red yellow podsolic	
Iranamadu	Oxisols	Red yellow latasolic	DZ
Katugastota	Inceptisols	Immature brown loams	WZ
Bangadeniya	Entisols	Alluvials	IZ
Kilinochchi	Vertisols	Grumusols	DZ

Table 4.1: Information on soil type, location and climatic zone of the area of collected soils



Figure 4.2: Soils collected from Sri Lanka

Table 4.2: Analytical methods used in soil analysis

Physical/chemical property	Analytical methods
рН	pH meter
CHN content	CHN analyzer
Mineralogical and elemental composition	XRD/XRF_EDX
Particle size distribution	Sieve analysis/sedimentation

4.3 Results and Discussion

Soils in Sri Lanka have a vast diversity and therefore there is a spatial variation of soil properties. In addition, properties of the same soil can be varied from place to place due to the effects of environmental and climatic factors. Therefore, it is important to characterize soils collected to select best soils to be used as a reactive material for PRBs in municipal solid waste open dumpsites.

4.3.1 Physico-chemical properties of soils

Table 4.2 shows the results of CHN analysis, i.e. soil organic N and soil organic C and the respective C/N ratios. Highest C/N and SOM have been resulted in soils from Ukuwela followed by Iranamadu and Maharagama. C/N ratio and the SOM are important indicators with regard to pollutant removal as organic compounds such as humic matters can bind heavy metals from wastewater (Violante et al., 2010). Therefore, it is important to select a soil with high C/N ratio and SOM to use as a reactive material in PRB.

Table 4.3 shows the physico-chemical properties of studied soils of Sri Lanka. pH of soils varied from 21-81 μ S cm⁻¹ and 4.6-5.6, respectively. Accordingly, all soils revealed an acidic pH within the range of typical values of Sri Lankan soils (Mapa et al., 2010). All soils showed clay content of >30% and the dominant metal oxide in all soils was Al₂O₃. Organic matter content in all soils was very low.

Sample location	SON%	SOC%	C/N
Katuotagasta	0.03	0.37	12.33
Ukuwela	0.11	2.07	18.82
Kilinochchi	0.05	0.5	10.00
Iranamadu	0.07	1.24	17.71
Anuradhapura	0.07	0.71	10.14
Bangadeniya	0.06	0.63	10.50
Maharagamama	0.06	0.8	13.33

Table 4.3:	Organic	composition	of soils
	0	1	

Soil comple	лU	Clav ⁰ /	Metal oxides%			SOM0/
Son sample	рп	Clay %	Al	Fe	Mn	- 30 1 v1 //
Maharagama (RBL)	5.6	57.9	36.76	9.30	0.04	1.36
Katugastota (Immature brown loams)	5.3	30.7	25.83	15.08	0.32	0.63
Ukuwela (RYP)	4.6	55.2	28.49	19.75	0.23	3.52
Bangadeniya (Alluvials)	4.7	31.2	21.27	13.48	0.27	1.07
Anuradhapura (RBE)	4.7	48.5	27.26	17.99	0.28	1.21
Iranamadu (RYL)	5.2	37.6	29.47	18.63	0.16	2.11
Kilinochchi (Grumusols)	5.2	35.1	31.04	5.99	0.11	0.85

Table 4.4: Physicochemical properties of soils

4.3.2 Mineralogical and elemental composition of soils

The qualitative results of the mineralogical and elemental (metal oxides) analysis of soils are shown in Table 4.5. mineralogy of a soil is important as it explained the environment where the soil was formed (Fontes and Gomes, 2003). Clay minerals can adsorb metal ions through cations replacement or by forming surface functional groups (de Pablo et al., 2011). Main mineral of most of the soils studied is Kaolinite and it is Ca-montmorillonite in Bangadeniya soil. Anuradhapura and Bangadeniya soil have Halloysite as the main mineral. Kaolinite is a non-expanding mineral due to its high molecular stability and limited or nonexistent isomorphous substitution. It is a clay with lowest reactivity which has a high pH dependency (Miranda-Trevino and Coles, 2003). On the other hand, Montmorillonite is a smectite mineral with a negative charge in both basal surfaces (de Pablo et al., 2011; Sakiewicz et al., 2011). Halloysite is a mineral which belongs to the Kaolinite sub group and has a high affinity for monovalent cations like K⁺, Na⁺, Li⁺ and Cs⁺. Opposite to the montmorillonite, halloysite has a net negative charge on one side of the surface and a positive charge on the other side (Sakiewicz et al., 2011).

Sampling site	Major minerals	Minor minerals	Major elements
Katugastota	Kaolinite	Beidellite, quartz, Albite,	TiO2, CaO, K2O, BaO
		seraphainite, geothite, gibbsite	
Ukuwela	Kaolinite	quartz, seraphainite, geothite,	TiO2, BaO, CaO, MgO
		gibbsite	
Kilinochchi	Kaolinite, quartz	montmorillonite-Na, anorthite, illite	TiO2, MgO, BaO, K2O,
			CaO,ZrO2,MnO
Iranamadu	Kaolinite	montmorillonite - Na,quartz,	MgO,TiO2, BaO, CaO,MnO,
		geothite, gibbsite	K2O
Anurdhapura	Halloysite	montmorillonite- Ca,quartz,	MgO, CaO,TiO2,
		geothite, hematite	MnO,K2O,BaO
Bangadeniya	Ca-Montmorillonite,	quartz, CaAl ₂ Si ₂ O ₈ , geothite	K2O,MgO, CaO,TiO2,BaO,
	Halloysite,		MnO
Maharagama	Kaolinite, quartz	montmorillonite - Na, illite,	TiO2, MgO, BaO, K2O, CaO
		geothite, gibbsite	

Table 4.3: Mineralogical and elemental composition of soils

4.3.3 Prediction of Pb and Cd adsorption onto soils

Soil composition i.e. soil organic matter, clay content and metal oxides affect the adsorption of metal ions onto soils (Lee et al., 1996; Shi et al., 2013). Different models have been used to predict the adsorption of Pb (Shi et al., 2013) and Cd (Lee et al., 1996) and developed curves to predict the adsorption based on soil properties. The curves developed by other researchers used in this study to predict the Pb and Cd by soils and thereby to find out best soils for Pb and Cd adsorption.

Prediction of Pb adsorption onto soils

The effect of soil organic matter, metal oxides and clay content on Pb adsorption has been studied by Shi et al. (2013) and developed curves to predict Pb adsorption by soils (Figure 4.3).



Figure 4.3: Relative contributions of soil organic matter (SOM), metal oxides and clay minerals to Pb adsorption: (a) at various reaction pHs for Pb adsorption from Shi et al., (2013)

As illustrated in the Figure 4.3, soil organic matter is the dominant adsorbent at pH from 3-5, than metal oxides and clay content. On the other hand, Pb adsorption onto

metal oxides increased with increase in pH of the soil. Further, Shi et al. (2013) have found that the P adsorption by Aluminum hydroxides is minor compared with that of Iron hydroxides. The Pb adsorption by clay minerals is decreased with increase in pH and become lowest after pH 5. Accordingly, soils from Ukuwela show the best characteristics for adsorption of Pb by soil organic matter and clay minerals due to low pH, high content of organic matter and clay. In contrast, Pb adsorption by metal oxides could be higher in soils from Katugastota due to its high Fe oxide content and high pH.

Prediction of Cd adsorption onto soils

Figure 4.4 shows the variation of log Kd with pH for Cd adsorption onto soils, developed by Anderson and Christensen (1988). Accordingly, Cd adsorption is increased with increase in pH. The soils from Sri Lanka showed a pH varied from 4.6 to 5.6. Thus, the soils from Maharagama and Katugastota could be the best for Cd adsorption. Although the pH is the major factor controlling Cd adsorption, there are other factors that control the process. Therefore, it is important to consider other factors such as organic matter, clay content and metal oxides etc. on adsorption of Cd by soils.



Figure 4.4: Log *K*^{*d*} for Cd as a function of pH from Anderson and Christensen (1988)

4.4 Conclusions

In this study, physico-chemical properties of soils were analyzed with the aim of finding suitable soils to be used as a reactive media for PRBs to treat leachate from municipal solid waste dumpsites in Sri Lanka. The best soils for Pb and Cd adsorption were predicted by dfferent models developed by other researchers. Accordingly, soils from Ukuwela and Katugastota are the best soils for Pb adsorption while soils from Maharagama and Katugastota are best for Cd adsorption. Further, the adsorption experiments have to be carried out to find best performed soils for Pb and Cd adsorption.

References

- Anderson, P. R. and T. H. Christensen (1988)."Distribution coefficients of Cd, Co, Ni, and Zn in soils". Journal of Soil Science. 39(1): 15-22.
- de Pablo, L., M. L. Chávez and M. Abatal (2011)."Adsorption of heavy metals in acid to alkaline environments by montmorillonite and Ca-montmorillonite". Chemical Engineering Journal. 171(3): 1276-1286.
- Di Natale, F., M. Di Natale, R. Greco, A. Lancia, C. Laudante and D. Musmarra (2008)."Groundwater protection from cadmium contamination by permeable reactive barriers". Journal of Hazardous Materials. 160(2–3): 428-434.
- Fontes, M. c. P. F. and P. C. Gomes (2003)."Simultaneous competitive adsorption of heavy metals by the mineral matrix of tropical soils". Applied Geochemistry. 18(6): 795-804.
- Gibert, O., S. Pomierny, I. Rowe and R. M. Kalin (2008)."Selection of organic substrates as potential reactive materials for use in a denitrification permeable reactive barrier (PRB)". Bioresource Technology. 99(16): 7587-7596.
- Han, Y.-S., T. J. Gallegos, A. H. Demond and K. F. Hayes (2011)."FeS-coated sand for removal of arsenic(III) under anaerobic conditions in permeable reactive barriers". Water Research. 45(2): 593-604.

- *Indraratne, S. P.* (2005)."Occurance of Organo-mineral complexes in reation to clay mineralogy of some Sri lankan Soils ". J. Natn. Sci. Foundation Sri Lanka. 34(1): 29-35.
- Loganathan, P., P. M. N. Dayaratne and R. T. Shanmuganathan (1982)."Evaluation of the phosphorus status of some coconut-growing soils of Sri Lanka". The Journal of Agricultural Science. 99(01): 25-33.
- Ludwig, R. D., R. G. McGregor, D. W. Blowes, S. G. Benner and K. Mountjoy (2002)."A Permeable Reactive Barrier for Treatment of Heavy Metals". Ground Water. 40(1): 59-66.
- Mapa, R. B., S. Somasiri and A. R. Dassnayake (2010). Soils of the Dry Zone of Sri Lanka. Soil Science Society of Sri Lanka. Peradeniya, Sri Lankapp.244-283.
- McMahon, P. B., K. F. Dennehy and M. W. Sandstrom (1999)."Hydraulic and Geochemical Performance of a Permeable Reactive Barrier Containing Zero-Valent Iron, Denver Federal Center". Ground Water. 37(3): 396-404.
- Miranda-Trevino, J. C. and C. A. Coles (2003)."Kaolinite properties, structure and influence of metal retention on pH". Applied Clay Science. 23(1): 133 139
- Mor, S., K. Ravindra, R. P. Dahiya and A. Chandra (2006)."Leachate Characterization and Assessment of Groundwater Pollution Near Municipal Solid Waste Landfill Site". Environmental Monitoring and Assessment. 118(1-3): 435-456.
- Nagarajan, R., S. Thirumalaisamy and E. Lakshumanan (2012)."Impact of leachate on groundwater pollution due to non-engineered municipal solid waste landfill sites of erode city, Tamil Nadu, India". Iranian Journal of Environmental Health Science & Engineering. 9(1): 35.
- Nayanaka, V. G. D., W. A. U. Vitharana and R. B. Mapa (2010)."Geostatistical Analysis of Soil Properties to Support Spatial Sampling in a Paddy Growing Alfisol". Tropical Agricultural Research. 22 (1): 34-44.
- Sakiewicz, P., R. Nowosielski, W. Pilarczyk, K. Gołombek and M. Lutyński (2011)."Selected properties of the halloysite as a component of Geosynthetic Clay Liners (GCL)". Journal of Achievements in Materials and Manufacturing Engineering. 48(2): 177-191.

- Shi, Z., H. E. Allen, D. M. Di Toro, S.-Z. Lee and J. B. Harsh (2013)."Predicting PbII adsorption on soils: the roles of soil organic matter, cation competition and iron (hydr)oxides". Environmental Chemistry. 10(6): 465-474.
- Vignola, R., R. Bagatin, A. De Folly D'Auris, C. Flego, M. Nalli, D. Ghisletti, R. Millini and R. Sisto (2011)."Zeolites in a permeable reactive barrier (PRB): One year of field experience in a refinery groundwater—Part 1: The performances". Chemical Engineering Journal. 178(0): 204-209.
- Violante, A., V. Cozzolino, L. Perelomov, A. G. Caporale and M. Pigna (2010)."Mobility and Bioavailability of Heavy Metals And Metalloids in Soil Environments". J. Soil. Sci. Plant Nutr. 10 (3): 268 - 292
- Yukselena, Y. and A. Kaya (2008)."Suitability of the methylene blue test for surface area, cation exchange capacity and swell potential determination of clayey soils". Engineering Geology. 102(1): 38-45.

Chapter 5 SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND PERSPECTIVES

5.1 Characterization and evaluation of leachate contamination potential of leachate from municipal solid waste dumpsites in Sri Lanka

Composition of leachate from different open dumpsites from Sri Lanka was measured in order to characterize and evaluate the pollution potential by leachate. Pollutant parameters such as BOD₅, COD, heavy metals etc. were measured by standard methods. Pollution indices i.e. quality rating scales (QRS) and leachate pollution index (LPI) was calculated to evaluate the effect of leachate on environment. Quality rating scale was calculated for heavy metals and LPI was calculated for all pollutant groups, inorganic, organic and heavy metals. The results showed that most of the pollutants (F⁻, Cl⁻, PO₄³⁻, NH₄⁺, Fe, Se, Pb, BOD₅, and COD) exceeded the maximum tolerance limits in Sri Lankan Standards. The BOD₅/COD ratio ranged from 0.01 to 0.6 for most of the samples and the highest value of 0.6 observed in the Kolonnawa sample. The highest LPI_{or} and LPI_{hm} of 91.5 and 10.53, respectively resulted from Kolonnawa dumpsite and the highest LPI_{in} of 65.4 is resulted in leachate from Bandaragama. It was found that leachate from Kolonnawa dumpsite is polluted with organic pollutants and heavy metals and it has the highest potential of environmental pollution by means of organic pollutants and heavy metals. The leachate from Bandaragama site has the highest pollution potential of inorganic pollutants. Quality rating scales values show that most of leachate are loaded with heavy metals in most sites. LPI of leachate from all sites shows a higher value than the reference LPI which shows the impact of leachate on environment.

5.2 Adsorption of Cd(II) and Pb(II) onto humic acid–treated coconut (Cocos nucifera) husk

Coconut husk (CH), an agricultural by product available in Sri Lanka was studied for its capacity to remove heavy metals from wastewater aiming to study the possibility of using it as a reactive material in PRB. Raw CH (RCH) and humic acid treated CH (HACH) were studied for Cd and Pb adsorption with varying pH, ionic strength, contact time and initial metal ion concentration. Further, experiments were conducted to study the metal adsorption at the presence of competitive ions. The results of the study were evaluated with adsorption isotherm and kinetic models. The maximum adsorption capacities of Cd²⁺ and Pb²⁺ onto HACH were 47.28 and 66.26 mg g⁻¹, respectively, and 24.24 and 21.21 mg g⁻¹, respectively, for RCH. It was found that the adsorption of Cd²⁺ and Pb²⁺ onto HACH is a chemical sorption in which Pb²⁺ adsorption needs a longer reaction time while Cd²⁺ adsorption reaches equilibrium faster. Isotherm model fitting showed that the adsorption of Cd and Pb involves a monolayer adsorption. It was found that adsorption is affected by the some ions present in the wastewater. Humic acid treatment enhances the adsorption of Cd and Pb and it will be important in leachate treatment as leachate has humic substances resulted from waste materials.

5.3 Characterization of soils of Sri Lanka to be used as a reactive material in permeable reactive barrier

Chapter 4 presents the characterization of soils of Sri Lanka to use as a reactive material in PRB. Seven soils from were selected and collected from different locations of Sri Lanka. Soils were collected from Katugastota, Ukuwela, Anuradhapura, Kilinochchi, Iranamadu, Bangadeniya and Maharagama. The best soils for Pb and Cd adsorption were predicted by dfferent models developed by other researchers. Accordingly, soils from Ukuwela and Katugastota are the best soils for Pb adsorption while soils from Maharagama and Katugastota are best for Cd adsorption.

5.4 Conclusions and perspectives

The aim of this research was to find out suitable, low cost, locally available materials for the treatment of leachate generated from municipal solid wastes open dumpsites in Sri Lanka. Beforehand leachate characterization was done to identify the pollutants with great impact on environment. Then coconut husk and soils were studied for pollutant removal performances.

It was clear that the complex nature of leachate from different sites due to the differences in waste composition, moisture content, climatic conditions etc. The effect of each pollutant was different from site to site as the concentration of each pollutant varies with the site. Heavy metals were found to be the pollutant which has a high risk of environmental pollution in most of the open dumpsites studied. Thus, biomaterials and soils were studied for heavy metals, Cd and Pb removal from wastewater.

Biomaterial, coconut husk removed Cd and Pb well when it is modified with humic acid. Humic acid is an organic acid in leachate and humic substances are commonly found in soils with organic matter. Metal removal by humic acid treated coconut husk (HACH) was affected by some cations and anions. This may be overcome by installing a pretreatment unit to remove other ions and suspended solids in wastewater when HACH is used for actual wastewater treatment.

Seven soils from different areas of Sri Lanka were characterized for physico-chemical properties suitable for PRB. Best soils for Pb adsorption are soils from Ukuwela and Katugastota while soils of Maharagama and Katugastota best suited for Cd adsorption.

In perspective, adsorption capacities of metals by soils have to analyze in order to select best soils to be used in PRBs. Batch experiments need to be carried out at different conditions as used for the Coconut husk (Chapter 3). Best performed materials in the batch experiments have to be evaluated in a continuous system followed by a field evaluation (Figure 5.1).

Further, it is important to study the pollutant removal capacities by the mixtures of coconut husk and soils. This will facilitate the combination of mechanisms to remove metals form wastewater. Similarly, it is important to study the permeability of the materials and their variations with the time.



Figure 5.1: Steps of designing a permeable reactive barrier

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

Journal publications

Sewwandi, B. G. N., Meththika Vithanage, S.S.R.M.D.H.R. Wijesekara, M.I.M. Mowjood, Shoichiro Hamamoto and Ken Kawamoto. 2014. Adsorption of Cd(II) and Pb(II) onto Humic Acid Treated Coconut (*Cocos nucifera*) Husk. *J. Hazard. Toxic Radioact. Waste*, 18 (2): 1-10. DOI: 10.1061/(ASCE)HZ.2153-5515.0000196.

Peer reviewed conference proceedings

Paranavithana, G.N., B. G. N. Sewwandi, Takahashi Saito and Ken Kawamoto. 2014. Adsorption Characteristics of Cd(II) and Pb(II) onto Coconut Shell Biochar and Coconut Shell Activated Carbon as Media for Permeable Reactive Barriers in Sri Lanka. In proc. of 5th International symposium on Energy from Biomass and waste, Venice 2014. 17th to 20th November 2014. Accepted.

Paranavithana, G. N., B. G. N. Sewwandi and Ken Kawamoto. 2013. Soil characterization for the development of site-specific permeable reactive barrier in Sri Lanka: Mineralogical and surface charge properties for selected surface geologic media. In proc. of the special session on Urban water Environment Monitoring and Management. 4th International Conference on Structural Engineering and Construction Management 2013: Capacity Building for Development. 13-15th Dec. 2013. 1-13

Sewwandi, B. G. N., Koide Takahiro, Ken Kawamoto, Shoichiro Hamamoto, Shingo Asamoto and Hiroyasu Sato. 2013. Evaluation of leachate contamination potential of municipal solid waste dumpsites in Sri Lanka using Leachate Pollution Index. 14th International Waste Management and Landfill Symposium. 30th Sep-4th Oct, 2013. Sardinia, Italy. pp. 222.

Sewwandi, B. G. N., Koide Takahiro, Ken Kawamoto, Shoichiro Hamamoto, Shingo Asamoto and Hiroyasu Sato.2012. Characterization of Landfill Leachate from Municipal Solid Waste Landfills in Sri Lanka. In Proc. 2nd International Conference on Sustainable Built Environment. 14-16 December 2012. Kandy, Sri Lanka. pp 21.

Conference abstracts

Sewwandi, B. G. N., Koide Takahiro, Ken Kawamoto, Shoichiro Hamamoto, Shingo Asamoto and Hiroyasu Sato. 2013. Impact of landfill leachate from municipal solid waste dumpsites on environmental pollution. Japan Geoscience Union Meeting. Japan Geoscience Union, Makuhari Messe, Japan. 19-24 May 2013 (20th May).

Sewwandi, B. G. N., Meththika Vithanage, M. I. M. Mowjood and Ken Kawamoto. 2012. Removal of Heavy Metals from wastewater Using Agricultural Waste Materials. Water and Environment in Asia's Developing Communities. Lien Foundation and Singapore Membrane Technology Centre, Marina Bay Sands, Singapore. 1st July 2012.